
CITY OF CHESTERFIELD 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMITTEE MEETING 

THURSDAY, MAY 24, 2007 
CONFERENCE ROOM 101 

5:30 P.M. 
   
 
I. APPROVAL OF MEETING SUMMARY 
   

A. Approval of the May 10, 2007 Planning and Zoning Committee 
Meeting Summary 

 
II. OLD BUSINESS 
 

A. Draft Ordinance Pertaining to Residential Real Estate Open 
House Signs 

 
B. Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Commons Four Development, 

LLC):  A request for an amendment to City of Chesterfield Ordinance 
Number 1928 for an amendment to the green space requirement, 
structure setbacks and parking setbacks for Chesterfield Commons 
Four an approximately 21.6 acre tract of land, zoned “PI” and located 
east of the intersection of Chesterfield Airport Road and Public Works 
Drive. 

 
III. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Mobil Mart (Clayton and Baxter): Amended Site Development Plan, 
Landscape Plan, Lighting Plan and Architectural Elevations for a gas 
station/convenience store in a "PC" Planned Commercial District 
located on the northwest corner of Baxter and Clayton Roads. 

 
B. Tuscany Reserve: A Site Development Plan, Tree Stand 

Delineation, Tree Preservation Plan, Landscape Plan, and 
Architectural Elevations for a 58.15 acre lot of land zoned “E-One 
Acre” Estate Residence District, and “E-Two Acre” Estate Residence 
District, located north of Strecker Road and east of Church Road.  

 
C. P.Z. 9-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel 

D): A request for a change of zoning from “NU” Non-Urban District, 
“FPNU” Flood-Plain Non-Urban District and “R1” Residence 
District/FPR1” Flood-Plain Residence District to “MU” Medical Use 
District for four (4) parcels of land located ¼ mile north of the Woods 
Mill and Conway Roads intersection.  The total area to be rezoned 
14.0 acres.  (Locator Numbers: 18Q420023,18Q510014,18Q510025, 
18Q510036)   

 
D. P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill (Miceli 

Construction):  A request for a change of zoning from “NU” Non-
Urban to “E” One Acre District for a 10.2 acre tract of land located on 
the eastern side of Kehrs Mill Road, 4,100 feet south of its 
intersection with Wild Horse Creek Road. (19U530062, 19U530392) 

 



Planning & Zoning Committee Agenda 
May 24, 2007 

2 

E. P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park (18652, 18630, 18650, 
and 18660 Olive Road):  A request for a change of zoning from “NU” 
Non-Urban to “PI” Planned Industrial for 52.89 acres of land located 
south of Olive Street Road, east of Wardenburg. (17W420057, 
17W420035, 17W230010, 17W230021)   

 
F. P.Z. 11-2007 J&T Holdings (612 & 614 Cepi): A request for a 

change of zoning from an “M3” Planned Industrial District to a “PC” 
Planned Commercial District for an approximately 0.75 acre tract of 
land located at 612 & 614 Cepi Drive south of the intersection of 
Chesterfield Airport Road and Cepi Drive. (17V330122) 

 
G. P.Z. 14-2007a Wilson Bluffs (SMS Group, L.L.C.):  A request for a 

change of zoning from “NU” Non-Urban District to “E-One Acre” 
Estate District for a 3.28 acre tract of land located on the west side of 
Wilson road, directly north of Wilson Manors II Subdivision.   

 
H. P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce 

Center): A request for an amendment to City of Chesterfield 
Ordinance 1717 to amend the parking setbacks and development 
requirements for a 19.8 acre tract of land zoned "PI" Planned 
Industrial District located north of the intersection of Spirit Drive North 
and Chesterfield Airport Road, south of I-64/U.S. 40-61, and west of 
Trade Center Boulevard.  (17V610040, 17V620083, 17V620094, and 
17V629402) 

 
I. P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision (16845 N. Outer 40 Road):  

A request for an amendment to City of Chesterfield Ordinance 2154 
to allow for a change to the parking and building setbacks, building 
height and number of permitted buildings for a 7.698 acre tract of 
land zoned “PC” Planned Commercial located north of North Outer 
Forty and east of Boone’s Crossing at 16845 North Outer Forty 
Road. (17T520073) 

 
 
IV. PENDING PROJECTS/DEPARTMENTAL UPDATE 
 
 
V. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Note: The Planning and Zoning Committee will consider and act upon the matters listed 

above, and such other matters as may be presented at the meeting and determined 
to be appropriate for discussion at that time.  

 
Notice is hereby given that the Planning and Zoning Committee may also hold a closed 
meeting for the purpose of dealing with matters relating to one or more of the following: 
legal actions, causes of action, litigation or privileged communications between the City’s 
representatives and its attorneys (RSMo 610.021(1) 1994; lease, purchase or sale of real 
estate (RSMo 610.021(2) 1994; hiring, firing, disciplining or promoting employees with 
employee groups (RSMo 610.021(3) 1994; bidding specification (RSMo 610.021(11) 1994; 
and/or proprietary technological materials (RSMo 610.021(15) 1994 
 



I. A.I. A.I. A.I. A.    
MEMORANDUM  
 
TO:  Michael G. Herring, City Administrator  
 
FROM: Mike Geisel, Acting Director of Planning  
 
SUBJECT: Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary  

May 10, 2007 
 
A meeting of the Planning and Zoning Committee of the Chesterfield City Council was 
held on Thursday, May 10, 2007 in Conference Room 101.  
 
In attendance were: Chair Connie Fults (Ward IV); Councilmember Jane Durrell 
(Ward I); Councilmember Bruce Geiger (Ward II); and Councilmember Dan Hurt 
(Ward III).  
 
Also in attendance were Councilmember Mike Casey (Ward III); Councilmember Bob 
Nation (Ward IV); Victoria Sherman, Planning Commission Vice-Chair; Wendy 
Geckeler, Planning Commissioner; Rob Heggie, City Attorney; Libbey Malberg, 
Assistant City Administrator for Economic & Community Development; Annissa 
McCaskill-Clay, Assistant Director of Planning; Aimee Nassif, Senior Planner; Jarvis 
Myers, Project Planner; and Mary Ann Madden, Planning Assistant. 
 
Chair Fults called the meeting to order at 5:32 p.m.  
 
 
I. APPROVAL OF MEETING SUMMARY 
  

A. Approval of the April 19, 2007 Planning and Zoning Committee Meeting 
Summary 

 
Councilmember Durrell made a motion to approve the Meeting Summary of April 
19, 2007. The motion was seconded by Councilmember Geiger and passed by a voice 
vote of 4 to 0.   
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 

A. P.Z. 5-2005 Winter Wheat Place (Dollar Building Company):  A request 
for a change of zoning from “NU” Non-Urban District to  
E-One Acre for a 4.0 acre tract of land located on Winter Wheat Road, 3000 
feet southeast of the intersection of Wild Horse Creek Road and Long Road.  
(18U220092) 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

2 

 
Staff Report 
Ms. Annissa McCaskill-Clay, Assistant Director of Planning, stated the Petitioner is 
requesting to rezone the site from “NU” Non-Urban to E-One Acre. This project was 
forwarded on by the Planning Commission with a recommendation for approval by a 
vote of 6 to 1 in January 2007. The petition was reviewed by the Planning & Zoning 
Committee on March 3, 2007, at which time a Protest Petition Hearing was held. The 
Planning & Zoning Committee forwarded the petition to City Council with the 
recommendation that the Petitioner consider LLR zoning. At the April 16, 2007 City 
Council meeting, the petition was sent back to the Planning & Zoning Committee with a 
draft Attachment A prepared by Staff. The draft Attachment A was prepared after 
consultation with the City Attorney and includes an E-Two Acre zoning designation.  
 
Ms. McCaskill-Clay stated that a request for rezoning of the parcels located below and 
to the side of the subject site has been scheduled for Public Hearing on July 9, 2007. 
The request is for LLR zoning. 
 
 

DISCUSSION 
 
Zoning Designation 
City Attorney Rob Heggie stated that based on the discussions at the City Council level 
that E-One zoning is not workable for this site, the Attachment A was drafted with an  
E-Two zoning designation. The Petitioner and the City Attorney have discussed the 
possibility of doing E-Two Acre zoning. It was noted that although the zoning request 
has changed from E-One Acre to E-Two Acre, a new Public Hearing is not required. 
 
Chair Fults noted that at the Protest Petition Hearing, the Planning & Zoning Committee 
took the following action: 
 

“Based on the fact that the subject petition is not in character with the 
majority of the surrounding neighborhoods, Councilmember Flachsbart 
made a motion to deny P.Z. 5-2005 Winter Wheat Place (Dollar Building 
Company) with a recommendation that the Petitioner consider LLR 
zoning.” 
 

If the property had come in as a sub-divide for two lots, Chair Fults asked what the 
requirements would be with respect to infrastructure, roads, etc., and whether these 
requirements are written into the Attachment A.  Ms. McCaskill-Clay replied that the 
Attachment A is written requiring compliance to the City’s codes, which would be the 
Subdivision Ordinance.  A lot split procedure could be done if no improvements were 
deemed necessary. A minor record plat procedure could be done, which would require 
sidewalks, water mains, landscaping, and street right-of-way dedication. The subject 
parcel is four acres so the lot could not be split under the existing zoning because the 
minimum lot size under “NU” is three acres. 
 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

3 

Chair Fults noted that “LLR” is defined under the City’s Zoning Ordinance as follows: 
 

“LLR is to provide for residential uses and activities, and other compatible 
uses in areas where normal provision of community infrastructure is not 
desirable or not feasible.” 
 

Chair Fults stated that since the subject area does not have sidewalks, street lights, or 
City-code streets, she agrees with the Committee’s recommendation of “LLR”. 
 
Ms. McCaskill-Clay pointed out the following: 

• E-Two zoning requires that the street adjacent to the property would have to be 
increased to City standard. Any other infrastructure requirements that would 
typically be needed for an E-District would be included in the Attachment A.  

• E-One zoning would also require the developer to bring the street up to City 
standards.  

• LLR zoning is straight zoning, which requires meeting the criteria of the Zoning 
Ordinance - but not a lot of infrastructure work would be required.  

 
City Attorney Heggie stated that the Petitioner was willing to bring the streets up to City 
standards under the E-One zoning; however, the Petitioner has indicated that they do 
not desire to do so under the E-Two zoning but would instead be willing to enter into a 
Road Maintenance Agreement. 
 
Petitioner’s Presentation 
Mr. Mike James, representing the Petitioner, stated the following: 

• Based upon the discussions taken place at Council, the Petitioner is willing to 
accept E-Two zoning as opposed to E-One zoning. 

• The Petitioner is not willing to accept the road improvements that would be 
mandated by the Attachment A. Under the E-One zoning, the economics of the 
project would permit the improvements to be done. Under the E-Two designation, 
the economics do not permit the improvements. 

• The existing infrastructures in the area include a private street with no sidewalks. 
The Petitioner is willing to enter into a Road Improvement Maintenance 
Agreement of the existing road and to participate in paying its fair share for 
maintaining the roadway in the area on the same basis that other property 
owners would. 

 
Residents’ Presentation 
Mr. Tom Fleming, Trustee of Wild Horse Ridge subdivision, stated the following: 

• The Petitioner has not recognized the Wild Horse Ridge subdivision – saying it 
doesn’t exist based upon some technicalities. As a result, Dollar Building 
Company has not paid any road maintenance dues since they have owned the 
property, which is nearly three years. 

• In order to maintain the subdivision’s three-acre zoning, The Planning & Zoning 
Committee recommended that the residents file a petition for rezoning from “NU” 
to “LLR”. The petition for rezoning has been filed. All seven residents in the 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

4 

subdivision have chosen to participate in the rezoning petition, which includes ten 
properties out of a total of fifteen. 

• Speaker feels “LLR” zoning is viable for the subject lot. He stated that on  
April 15, 2007, a couple introduced themselves as his “new neighbors”. They 
indicated that they had entered into an agreement with Ken Dollar to purchase 
the subject property for a single residence. They were unaware of the petition for 
rezoning on the property. 

• The residents of Wild Horse Ridge subdivision feel the subject site should be 
zoned “LLR”. 

 
Councilmember Hurt clarified that the Planning & Zoning Committee did not make any 
recommendations to Mr. Fleming regarding rezoning his property to LLR. He noted that 
the Committee is not in the practice of advising people on what to rezone their 
properties to. 
 
LLR vs. E-Two Zoning: 
Councilmember Durrell pointed out the following: 

• If the subject site is zoned LLR, only one house would be permitted. 
• If the subject site is zoned E-Two, two houses would be permitted. Since the 

Petitioner has indicated he would not be interested in providing road 
improvements, the road would fit in with the existing roads in the area. 

 
Councilmember Durrell felt that E-Two zoning is acceptable for the site.  
 
Chair Fults feels that the character of the neighborhood is LLR as defined in the Zoning 
Ordinance and that the subject site should be zoned LLR. 
 
 
Councilmember Hurt made a motion to forward P.Z. 5-2005 Winter Wheat Place 
(Dollar Building Company) to City Council with a recommendation of LLR zoning 
and to direct Staff to prepare the appropriate legislation. The motion was seconded 
by Chair Fults. 
 
Discussion on the Motion 
Councilmember Geiger stated he was not comfortable with LLR zoning at this time, but 
after further review, may change his mind by the time City Council meets on this 
petition. 
 
Chair Fults stated she may accept E-Two zoning if the Petitioner were willing to include 
all the requirements of E-Two, but that is not being presented at this time.  
 
Councilmember Geiger felt that, in this particular case, not doing all the road 
improvements required under E-Two may be preferred by the residents. Putting in the 
road improvements would totally change the character of the neighborhood. 
 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

5 

Mr. Mike James stated that, contrary to Mr. Fleming’s statement, there is no contract for 
the acquisition of the subject site. 
 
Mr. Tom Fleming stated that a memo from the Public Works Department indicates that 
any density higher than LLR in the area will require the Petitioner to make road 
improvements all the way through to the end of where the subdivision is going to be. 
The existing road is fifteen feet wide – two cars cannot pass without getting off to the 
side of the road. If a precedent is set allowing E-Two zoning, then preparations have to 
be made assuming that all lots in the area will become E-Two. If higher density is being 
requested, then the Petitioner should be required to widen the roads through their 
development.  
 
Chair Fults expressed concern about setting a precedent of allowing E-Two zoning 
without road improvements. 
 
It was noted that if the Petitioner would request E-One Acre zoning, a super majority 
vote of the City Council would be needed to approve it because of the earlier Protest 
Petition filed against such zoning.  
 
The vote on the motion recommending LLR zoning tied by a voice vote of 2 to 2 
with Councilmembers Durrell and Geiger voting “no”. P.Z. 5-2005 Winter Wheat 
Place (Dollar Building Company) goes forward to City Council with no recommendation.  
 
 Note: One bill, as recommended by the Planning Commission, will 
  be needed for the May 21, 2007 City Council Meeting. 
  See Bill # 

 
[Please see the attached report, prepared by Mike Geisel, Acting Director of 
Planning, for additional information on P.Z. 5-2005 Winter Wheat Place (Dollar 
Building Company).] 
 

 
II. NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. Draft Ordinance Pertaining to Residential Real Estate Open House 

Signs 
 
City Attorney Report 
City Attorney Rob Heggie stated that a draft Ordinance has been prepared to allow, 
under limited circumstances, residential real estate open house signs. The Ordinance 
limits the hours the signs can be displayed, the number of signs allowed, and the 
location of the signs. If the signs are not removed, or placed in areas not allowed, the 
City has the right to remove them. 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

6 

 
 

DISCUSSION 
Sign Restrictions 
The draft Ordinance restricts the open house signs as follows: 

• May be displayed only during the “open house” and shall not be displayed earlier 
than 8:00 a.m. and must be removed no later than dusk or 6:00 p.m., whichever 
is earlier. 

• Signs must have identification on it of the person who is placing the sign – name, 
address and telephone number. 

• No more than six signs per property for sale or lease shall be posted. 
 

Location of the Signs 
Councilmember Durrell asked why signs would not be allowed in the center median 
area. She noted that most real estate agents prefer this area for posting signs. 
 
City Attorney Heggie stated that signs would not be allowed in the center median area 
because of safety concerns related to traffic. He noted that it could affect the sight 
distance triangle in certain areas. 
 
Councilmember Geiger felt that signs should be allowed to be placed within five feet of 
driveways. 
 
At the current time, City Attorney Heggie stated that the City’s Sign Ordinance only 
allows one sign per property and posted on the property being sold, which must face the 
street. Currently, no real estate signs can be posted on public or private property other 
than the property being sold.  
 
Councilmember Hurt requested a copy of the Ordinance not allowing signs on 
private property, other than on the property being sold. 
 
The draft Ordinance would allow real estate signs in the right-of-way and on private 
property, other than the property being sold, with the owner’s consent. 
 
Attention-Getting Devices 
Councilmember Casey asked if the signs would be prohibited from having attention-
getting devices attached to them – such as balloons, pinwheels, etc. 
 
City Attorney Heggie stated that the Ordinance does not address attention-getting 
devises but language can be added if so desired. 
 
Number of Signs Allowed: 
Councilmember Geiger felt that permitting six signs per property is too many. 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

7 

 
Directional Signs 
Councilmember Casey suggested changing the wording of the Ordinance to refer to the 
signs as “directional” signs.  
 
City Attorney Heggie stated he would research the City’s Sign Ordinance to determine 
how “directional sign” is defined. 
 
Reverse Discrimination 
Councilmember Hurt expressed concern that the draft Ordinance could be viewed as 
reverse discrimination in that it allows real estate signs in the right-of-way, but no other 
signs – such as garage sale signs and political signs. 
 
City Attorney Heggie stated that the Constitution allows the City to treat various types of 
activities differently. He indicated he would review the issue further. 
 
 
Councilmember Geiger made a motion to amend Section 2.(b)4. of the draft 
Ordinance as follows: (Changes in green) 

 
Limit:  No more than six (6) three (3) signs per property for sale or lease 
shall be posted. 
 

The motion was seconded by Chair Fults and passed by a voice vote of 4 to 0. 
 
 
Councilmember Geiger made a motion to amend Section 2.(b)6.(6) of the draft 
Ordinance with respect to location restrictions as follows: (Changes in green) 
 

within five (5) feet of any of the following:  driveway; traffic signal; traffic 
sign; designated bus stop sign; bus bench or any other bench on the 
sidewalk. 
 

The motion was seconded by Councilmember Durrell and passed by a voice vote of 4 
to 0. 
 
 
Councilmember Geiger made a motion to prohibit any attention-getting devises 
being attached to the real estate signs. The motion was seconded by 
Councilmember Durrell and passed by a voice vote of 4 to 0. 
 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

8 

 
Councilmember Durrell made a motion to amend Section 2.(b)6.(3) of the draft 
Ordinance with respect to location restrictions as follows: (Changes in green) 
 

in any roadway area or center median area.  
 

The motion died due to the lack of a second. 
 
 
Councilmember Hurt made a motion to table the Draft Ordinance until the next 
Planning & Zoning Committee meeting; and to direct the City Attorney to address 
the issue of the right-of-way with respect to possible conflicts with posting of 
political signs; and to address the issue of possible reverse discrimination of 
allowing some signs but not other signs. The motion died due to the lack of a 
second. 
 
 
Councilmember Geiger made a motion to forward the Draft Ordinance to City 
Council with a recommendation to approve.  The motion died due to the lack of a 
second. 
 
 
Councilmember Durrell asked if one bill could cover all the signs or whether separate 
bills would be needed covering different types of signs.  City Attorney Heggie indicated 
this would require further research but thought separate bills would be the appropriate 
way to handle it. 
 
 
Councilmember Hurt made a motion to table the Draft Ordinance until the next 
Planning & Zoning Committee meeting allowing the City Attorney to address the 
issues of how the Draft Ordinance conflicts with the Freedom of Speech issue 
with respect to allowing some signs, but not all, in the right-of-way; and the issue 
of allowing directional signs for the sale of real estate property but not allowing 
them for the sale of other types of property.  The motion was seconded by Chair 
Fults. 
 
Discussion on the Motion: 
Councilmember Hurt asked the City Attorney to consult with the previous City Attorney 
regarding this issue.  City Attorney Heggie replied that he has all of the research done 
by the previous City Attorney.  Councilmember Hurt agreed the research would suffice. 
 
The motion to table the Draft Ordinance passed by a voice vote of 3 to 1 with 
Councilmember Geiger voting “no”.  
 
 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

9 

B. P.Z. 28-2006 Chesterfield Neighborhood Office Park (17655 and 17659 
Wild Horse Creek Road):  A request for a change of zoning from “NU” 
Non-Urban to “PC” Planned Commercial District with a “WH” Wild Horse 
Creek Road Overlay for 8.04 acre tract of land located north of Wild Horse 
Creek Road and west of Long Road.   

 
Staff Report 
Ms. Aimee Nassif, Senior Planner, stated that the subject petition is located in the 
bowtie area. The neighboring child care center was rezoned to E-Half Acre; the 
Chesterfield Elementary School is across the street from the subject site. 
 
The Public Hearing was held in December 2006 at which time several issues were 
raised, primarily dealing with density, parking, pedestrian access, and questions related 
to previous plans submitted in 2004. 
 
The proposed plan shows four buildings of 10,000 square feet each. The plan includes 
pedestrian areas, plaza areas, and a walking trail, which leads back to the Levee 
District Trail. The open space is 57%. 
 
The Planning Commission recommended approval, with one modification, by a vote of  
8 to 1. The modification approved by the Planning Commission refers to the parking 
requirement.  
 
The Wild Horse Creek Road Overlay area allows no more than nine parking spaces per 
development. The intent of this requirement was to keep the neighborhood feel and to 
control density in building size of areas developing along the bowtie. The Petitioner has 
requested that the parking be calculated using the regular parking regulations of the 
Zoning Ordinance, which would allow 4 parking spaces/1,000 square feet. The 
Attachment A is written using this calculation allowing no more than 160 parking 
spaces. 
 
The Petitioner shows some phantom parking. The Attachment A addresses phantom 
parking by allowing 42 phantom parking spaces as part of the permitted 160 spaces. 
The phantom parking would be utilized as directed by, or with the consent of, the City of 
Chesterfield. 
 
Planning Commission Report 
Commissioner Sherman, Vice-Chair of the Planning Commission, reported that the 
Petitioner had submitted a revised plan from the original plan. The revised plan showed 
a reduction in the square footage and parking. The Commission also felt that the 
phantom parking would allow for more green space. 
 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

10 

 
DISCUSSION 

Parking 
Chair Fults referred to the Wild Horse Creek Road Overlay, which allows a maximum of 
nine parking spaces. It also states “If the maximum number of parking spaces permitted 
in the “WH” District does not meet the minimum parking space requirements of the City 
Code for that proposed use, then the proposed use will be deemed to exceed the 
design requirement and will not be eligible.”  
 
Chair Fults expressed her concern that the Planning Commission modified the parking 
requirement for this petition allowing 160 spaces; and did not enforce the specific 
design requirement for parking under “Neighborhood Office”. 
 
Commissioner Sherman stated that the Planning Commission’s intent regarding the 
maximum number of nine parking spaces was in reference to the Residential Business 
Use (RBU), which is not allowed off of Wild Horse Creek Road. The nine parking-space 
requirement was intended for houses utilizing an RBU. The Planning Commission never 
intended buildings of only 2000-3000 square feet in this area. The four proposed 
buildings of 10,000 square feet each would rationally need more than nine parking 
spaces. 
 
Because of the maximum parking of nine spaces, Chair Fults stated she was under the 
impression that the Planning Commission did not want large buildings in this area. She 
felt that the parking requirement was a way of limiting the size of the buildings. She 
expressed frustration that the proposed project is very similar to the project that 
triggered the moratorium and a review of the design guidelines for the bowtie area. 
 
Neighborhood Office Design Requirements 
Councilmember Geiger referred to the following Neighborhood Office Design 
Requirements and commented as noted below: 

•••• Open space requirement is 50%: The propose plan shows 57% open space. 
He questioned how much of the open space is part of the bluffs.  

•••• Parking shall be screened and buffered from Wild Horse Creek Road and all 
adjacent residential development: He stated that the southwest portion of the 
area will probably be developed as residential. 

•••• Pedestrian circulation: He noted that there is only a sidewalk on the 
East/West Loop Road and some in front of the building.  

•••• Innovative parking solutions   
•••• Shared public plazas, courtyards, landscaping, public art and similar 

amenities that are visible from the street:  The plan proposes three plazas, 
two of which are behind the buildings. The larger plaza is at the end of the 
parking lot. 

 
Commissioner Sherman agreed with some of the issues raised by Councilmember 
Geiger but pointed out that some of them are Site Development issues – such as the 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

11 

plaza locations. She indicated that his comments would be relayed to the Planning 
Commission. 
 
Zoning/Parking 
Councilmember Geiger felt that the requested zoning is appropriate and that the 
proposed 40,000 square feet is acceptable. However, he does not think the proposed 
project meets the intent of “Neighborhood Office”. He suggested that the front building 
be eliminated and that the back building be constructed as a two-story building. He felt 
this design would increase the open space and could include an architecturally-pleasing 
structure – such as a water feature or benches. 
 
Chair Fults stated that she does not agree with the zoning request – she has always felt 
this area should be zoned “Residential”. She felt that the new design guidelines would 
only allow smaller buildings that would fit in with the neighborhood. She expressed 
concern that the proposed project is very similar to the project proposed two years ago. 
She does not feel the proposed project meets the Overlay requirements. 
 
Councilmember Durrell stated that she feels the requested zoning is appropriate, along 
with the requested 40,000 square footage. She agreed with Councilmember Geiger’s 
suggestion of removing the front building and making the back building a two-story 
structure to increase the amount of green space. She felt the buildings would not be 
visible from Wild Horse Creek Road. She agreed that nine parking spaces for 
commercial development is unrealistic. 
 
Commissioner Sherman pointed out that in order to override the nine parking space 
requirement, a two-thirds vote of the Planning Commission is needed.  
 
Chair Fults was concerned that allowing 160 parking spaces would set a precedent for 
future development in the area.  
 
Councilmember Hurt stated that if adequate parking is not provided, motorists will park 
along the roadway. He did not think the parking should be reduced. 
 
Footprint of the Buildings 
Councilmember Hurt felt that a requirement needs to be established citing a maximum 
footprint size in order to achieve the look desired for this area. He noted that the 
footprint could be smaller if two-story buildings are permitted, which would open up the 
green space. 
 
Petitioner’s Presentation 
Mr. Brandon Harp, Civil Engineering Design Consultants, stated the following: 

• The proposed site is eight acres in size. 
• Based on the PC with the Wild Horse Overlay District, they meet, or exceed, all 

the zoning requirements on open space, setbacks, F.A.R., disturbance of 
woodlands, bluff area, etc.  



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

12 

• The permitted uses allowed are not “residential” and require more than nine 
parking spaces. 

• The open space shown in the Attachment A is 57%. The 42 phantom parking 
spaces originally proposed by the Petitioner were to be in addition to the 160 
parking spaces. Since the Planning Commission approved the phantom parking 
spaces as part of the 160 spaces, 42 spaces will not be built. This resulted in the 
open space being increased to 65%. 

• There is an 80 to100-foot setback at the front of the site. The site sits 600-700 
feet linearly off of Wild Horse Creek Road and the buildings are almost ten feet 
lower than the elevation of Wild Horse Creek Road. 

• The building height has been lowered to 30 feet from the allowed 35 feet. 
• The proposed buildings are hipp-roofed, using architectural-type shingles, stone 

and brick. 
• The Petitioner has agreed to additional landscaping per Mr. Kerchoff’s request. 

The Petitioner also agreed to additional landscaping/streetscape along the 
frontage. 

• The buildings have been centered on the site in order to limit the disturbance of 
the bluff. No more than 15-17% of the bluff would be disturbed – less than the 
allowed 20% disturbance. 

• By decreasing the square footage of the buildings to 10,000 square feet vs. 
12,000 square, the green space increased around all the buildings. 

 
Possible Two-Story Buildings/Height of Buildings 
The Petitioner stated that if a two-story building was constructed with a hipp roof, the 
height would be approximately 45 feet. 
 
Councilmember Hurt stated that it would be possible to construct four 45-foot tall two-
story buildings with a maximum footprint of 5,000 square feet each, which would still 
allow the requested 40,000 square feet. He felt that these dimensions would not be 
much larger than some of the residences in the area and would increase the open 
space. 
 
Councilmember Durrell found the above suggestion acceptable. 
 
Commissioner Sherman stated that the intent of a maximum building height of 35 feet 
was to maintain the character of Wild Horse Creek Road and to keep the buildings from 
being intrusive. 
 
Mr. Rodney Henry, Petitioner, stated that he prefers the proposed one-story buildings. 
He feels that two-story buildings would go against the spirit of the “Neighborhood Office” 
criterion and feels that the proposed plan is a good design. 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

13 

 
Phantom Parking 
Councilmember Geiger recommended that the reference to phantom parking be 
removed from the Attachment A since the Petitioner is requesting 160 built spaces. 
 
Commissioner Sherman stated that if not all 40,000 square feet of buildings are 
constructed at the same time, 160 spaces would not be immediately needed – 
preserving more green space. 
 
Bluff Area/Trail System 
Councilmember Geiger expressed concern that about two acres of the bluff is being 
counted as open space, which means there is only six acres available for development. 
Chair Fults agreed that she too wanted the bluff area taken out of the calculation. 
 
Mr. Henry stated that the bluff area is being used as open space and is being used for a 
trail system that will be tied into a Master Trail System along the railroad tracks. 
Because of the concerns raised about the bluff being used in the calculation, Mr. Henry 
stated that the square footage of the buildings was decreased from 48,000 to 40,000, 
which increased the open space and reduced the parking. 
 
Mr. Harp stated that there are very few properties that can be entirely developed – there 
are always issues such as development around the perimeter, woodland removal, 
detention, etc. 
 
Residents’ Presentation 
Ms. Rene Heney stated the following: 

• The residents are concerned that the proposed site is only eight acres of 100 
acres in the area. There is only a two-lane road in this area. 

• The proposed petition includes 160 parking spaces. There is concern that the 
approved parking for this site will set a precedent for future developments in the 
Neighborhood Office. 

• She feels that the building footprint needs to be reviewed – she feels smaller 
buildings are more desirable.  She noted that the largest homes in the area have 
a maximum footprint of 3500 square feet. 

• The residents are especially concerned with the issues of: 
� Traffic; 
� The number of parking spaces; and 
� The use of the buildings. 

• She noted that while these buildings are set back from Wild Horse Creek Road, 
other parcels in this area are closer to Wild Horse Creek Road. Any development 
on those parcels will be more visible than the proposed project. 

• Traffic is already an issue on Wild Horse Creek Road with no additional 
commercial development. If 160 cars are added to the area, it will present a 
problem. She noted that the State has no funds to construct a third lane for at 
least ten years. 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

14 

• There is also concern about construction traffic near the day care center and 
elementary school. 

• She stated that when the plan was presented three years ago, the residents 
opposed medical/dental use because of the increased traffic it would generate. 
She expressed concern that the medical/dental use is being proposed again with 
this petition. 

 
Traffic 
Councilmember Hurt did not feel that the proposed uses would affect the amount of 
traffic generated as it would be going in a different direction and at different times. 
 
It was noted that the residents had a Traffic Study done on the area, which showed 
there would be too much traffic on the road. Chair Fults stated that the road has also 
deteriorated since the Traffic Study was prepared. 
 
Desired Character of the Site 
Councilmember Hurt asked Ms. Heney what she envisioned for the area. She replied 
that, for this parcel, she preferred the smaller footprint with two stories, but thought 
there were issues with two-story buildings because of the proximity to the Airport. She 
clarified that she would not want two-story buildings on parcels that are closer to Wild 
Horse Creek Road. 
 
Ms. Heney stated that if the medical/dental use is eliminated, the parking would be 
reduced and would eliminate some of the residents’ concerns. 
 
Medical/Dental Use 
Councilmember Geiger noted that medical/dental use was not part of the original 
petition and asked why it is being requested with this petition. 
 
Mr. Henry replied that it is an acceptable use in the “Neighborhood Office” criterion. Not 
knowing who the users are going to be, they have requested both office and 
medical/dental use to give themselves the highest probability of success regarding the 
economic part of the equation. Three years ago, they did not feel medical/dental use 
was necessary. 
 
Ms. Nassif stated that the Attachment A, as written, allows for a maximum of 160 
parking spaces regardless of the use. Calculations show that if the entire site is general 
office use, it would require 160 spaces; if the site were all medical/dental use, it would 
require 180 spaces – but the Attachment A only allows 160 spaces. If the 
medical/dental use is utilized, the square footage of the building would have to be 
reduced to park the medical use. 
 
A Ward IV resident stated that a traffic engineer was hired to prepare a Traffic Study for 
the residents, who presented the data to the Planning Commission. The Traffic Study 
did not include medical/dental use because that use was not being proposed three 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

15 

years ago. He expressed concern that medical/dental is now part of this petition 
because he feels it will generate more traffic than general office use. 
 
General Discussion 
Addressing some of the issues raised, Councilmember Durrell stated the following: 

• Parking cannot be more than 160 spaces regardless of the use of the buildings; 
• Taking into consideration the concerns raised by the residents, she noted that 

development of other parcels in the bowtie would not necessarily be developed in 
the same manner as the subject parcel – such as not allowing two-story buildings 
closer to the road. 

• She felt that the suggestion of one two-story building at the back of the site would 
allow for amenities such as public plazas, courtyards, landscaping, public art, 
and/or a water feature. 

 
Mr. Henry pointed out that St. Louis Spirit Airport does not like the use of water features 
near the Airport because they attract geese and water fowl. 
 
Chair Fults stated that she preferred the suggestion of a two-story building at the back 
of the site with one-story buildings facing the properties to the east and the west.   
 
Ms. Heney stated she would prefer smaller, one-story buildings. She felt smaller 
buildings would restrict the use. She felt that the Ward IV Councilmembers should be 
consulted on how the site should be developed so it fits in with the character of the 
surrounding area. 
 
Councilmember Geiger asked for clarification on the language in the Attachment A 
regarding the Developer’s responsibility for the construction cost of the east-west loop 
road. City Attorney Heggie stated that the east-west road is years away from being 
constructed. The Developer will be required to put monies into escrow for this road. 
 
Councilmember Geiger made a motion to establish a maximum footprint of 10,000 
square feet of any building. The motion was seconded by Councilmember Durrell and 
passed by a voice vote of 3 to 1 with Chair Fults voting “no”. 
 
 
Councilmember Geiger made a motion to delete Section I.E.1.b. of the Attachment 
A which addresses phantom parking. The motion was seconded by Councilmember 
Durrell and passed by a voice vote of 4 to 0. 
 
 
Councilmember Durrell made a motion to forward P.Z. 28-2006 Chesterfield 
Neighborhood Office Park (17655 and 17659 Wild Horse Creek Road) to City 
Council with a recommendation to approve as amended. The motion was seconded 
by Councilmember Geiger and passed by a voice vote of 4 to 0.  
 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

16 

Councilmember Hurt asked that a discussion of the footprint and height of the 
building be elaborated upon at City Council. 
 
 Note: One bill, as recommended by the Planning Commission, will 
  be needed for the May 21, 2007 City Council Meeting. 
  See Bill # 

 
[Please see the attached report, prepared by Mike Geisel, Acting Director of 
Planning, for additional information on P.Z. 28-2006 Chesterfield Neighborhood 
Office Park (17655 and 17659 Wild Horse Creek Road).] 
 

 
C. P.Z. 12-2007 City of Chesterfield (Tree Manual):  A request to repeal City 

of Chesterfield Ordinance 2335 and replace it with a new ordinance that 
revises the procedures and requirements for Tree Protection Sureties, 
Escrows and Landscape Installation Bonds.  

 
Project Planner Jarvis Myers stated the Tree Manual, as amended, was approved by 
the Planning Commission on April 23, 2007 by a vote of 9 to 0. There were three 
amendments to the Tree Manual, which change the procedures and requirements for 
Tree Protection Sureties, Escrows and Landscape Installation Bonds. 
 
After the approval of the Planning Commission, Staff determined that the additional 
method of calculating the amount for a Tree Protection Surety or Escrow was not 
sufficient in encouraging additional tree preservation above the required 30% of existing 
tree canopy. Therefore, Staff recommends the following change to Section XIV. The red 
illustrates the approved change by Planning Commission and the blue indicates the 
additional language by Staff. 
 

Section XVI Surety and Escrow Procedures 
 
The amount of the surety or cash escrow shall be in the amount of 
$20,000 for each acre contained in the tree preservation area. The 
amount may be pro-rated for any tree preservation area less than one (1) 
acre. $10,000 per 100 lineal feet, or portion thereof, of wooded 
canopy perimeter to be preserved adjacent to any proposed clearing, 
grading, or other disturbance; or $20,000 per acre to be preserved 
whichever is less. When the $20,000 per acre calculation method is 
used and the developer is protecting more than the required 30% of 
existing tree canopy, the amount of the surety or cash escrow shall 
not exceed the cost of protecting the required 30% of existing tree 
canopy. 

 
It is felt the proposed language would encourage developers to preserve more tree 
canopy because their escrow will not be increased for such preservation. 
 



Planning & Zoning Committee Meeting Summary 
May 10, 2007 

17 

Discussion was held on how penalties are assessed for unauthorized tree removal. If an 
inventory of a site has not yet been made and trees are removed, the City would be 
able to access aerial photos to determine how much tree canopy was removed and 
assess fines accordingly. 
 
Councilmember Hurt made a motion to forward P.Z. 12-2007 City of Chesterfield 
(Tree Manual) to City Council with a recommendation to approve. The motion was 
seconded by Councilmember Geiger and passed by a voice vote of 4 to 0.  
 
 Note: One bill, as recommended by the Planning Commission, will 
  be needed for the May 21, 2007 City Council Meeting. 
  See Bill # 

 
[Please see the attached report, prepared by Mike Geisel, Acting Director of 
Planning, for additional information P.Z. 12-2007 City of Chesterfield (Tree 
Manual)] 

 
 
IV. PENDING PROJECTS/DEPARTMENTAL UPDATE 
 
 
V. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:52 p.m. 
 















Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 1 of 22 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
All provisions of the City of Chesterfield City Code shall apply to this 
development except as specifically modified herein. 
 

 
I.  SPECIFIC CRITERIA 
 

A.  PERMITTED USES 
 

 1.  The uses allowed in this “PI” Planned Industrial District shall be: 
   

a. Animal hospitals, veterinary clinics, and kennels (all uses shall 
be indoor). 

 
b. Auditoriums, churches, clubs, lodges, meeting rooms, libraries,                   

reading rooms, theaters, or any other facility for public 
assembly. 

 
c. Broadcasting studios for radio and television. 
 
d. Business, professional, and technical training schools. 
 
e. Business service establishments. 
f. Child care centers, nursery schools, and day nurseries. 
 
g. Financial institutions. 
 
h. Hotels and motels. 
 
i. Local public utility facilities, provided that any installation, other 

than poles and equipment attached to the poles, shall be: 
i. Adequately screened with landscaping, fencing or walls, or 

any combination thereof; or 
ii. Placed underground; or 
iii. Enclosed in a structure in such a manner so as to blend with 

and complement the character of the surrounding area. 
 

All plans for screening these facilities shall be submitted to the 
Department of Planning for review.  No building permit or 
installation permit shall be issued until these plans have been 
approved by the Department of Planning. 

   
j. Mail order sale warehouses. 
 
k. Manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, processing, or packaging 

of any commodity except: 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 2 of 22 

 

i. Facilities producing or processing explosives or 
flammable gases or liquids; 

ii. Facilities for animal slaughtering, meat packing, or 
rendering; 

iii. Sulfur plants, rubber reclamation plants, or cement 
plants, and 

iv. Steel mills, foundries or smelters. 
   

l.  Medical and dental offices. 
 
m.  Offices or office buildings. 
 
n.   Plumbing, electrical, air conditioning, and heating equipment 

sales, warehousing and repair facilities. 
 
o.   Printing and duplicating services. 
 
p.   Recreational facilities, indoor and illuminated outdoor facilities, 

including swimming pools, golf courses, golf practice driving 
ranges, tennis courts, and gymnasiums, and indoor theaters, 
including drive-in theaters (excluding golf courses, golf practice 
ranges, and drive-in theaters). 

 
q.   Research facilities, professional and scientific laboratories, 

including photographic processing laboratories used in 
conjunction therewith. 

 
r.   Restaurants, fast food. 
 
s.   Restaurants, sit down. 
 
t.   Service facilities, studios, or work areas for antique 

salespersons, artists, candy makers, craftpersons, 
dressmakers, tailors, music teachers, dance, teachers, typists, 
and stenographers, including cabinet makers, film processors, 
fishing tackle and bait shops, and souvenir sales.  Goods and 
services associated with these uses may be sold or provided 
directly to the public on the premises. 

 
u.   Stores, shops, markets, service facilities, and automatic 

vending facilities in which goods or services of any kind, 
including indoor sale of motor vehicles, are being offered for 
sale or hire to the general public on the premises. 

 
v. Vehicle repair facilities. 
 
w. Vehicle service centers. 
 
x. Vehicle washing facilities. 
 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 3 of 22 

 

y. Warehousing, storage, or wholesaling of manufactured 
commodities, live animals, explosives, or flammable gases and 
liquids (excluding live animals, explosives, or flammable gases 
and liquids). 

 
 2.     Ancillary Uses: 
 

a. Automatic vending facilities for: 
i. Ice and solid carbon dioxide (dry ice); 
ii. Beverages; 
iii. Confections. 
 

b. Cafeterias for employees and guests only. 
 
c. Outpatient substance abuse treatment facilities. 
 
d. Parking areas, including garages, for automobiles, but not 

including any sales of automobiles, or the storage of wrecked or 
otherwise damaged and immobilized automotive vehicles for a 
period in excess of seventy-two (72) hours. 

 
e. Permitted signs (See Section 1003.168 ‘Sign Regulations’). 

 
 

B.  FLOOR AREA, HEIGHT, BUILDING AND PARKING STRUCTURE 
  REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. FLOOR AREA 

 
1. The amount of square footage constructed shall be based on 

the developer’s ability to comply with the parking regulations 
of the City of Chesterfield Zoning Ordinance   

 
2. City of Chesterfield Ordinance #1773 allowed for three (3) 

possible outlots with Outlots A, B, and C not exceeding a 
total of 50,000 square feet.  Lots D and E were not to exceed 
a total of 205,000 square feet.  If this site is developed with a 
movie theater, the maximum number of outlots shall not 
exceed six (6) within this district. 

 
3. City of Chesterfield Ordinance #1773 allowed that the uses 

permitted within this district would be contained in a 
maximum of five (5) buildings.  If this site is developed with a 
movie theater, the uses permitted within this district shall be 
contained in a maximum of seven (7) buildings. 

 
 
 
 
 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 4 of 22 

 

2.  HEIGHT 
 

a. The maximum height of the building, exclusive of roof 
screening, shall not exceed twenty-five (25) feet for all 
outlets, and seventy (70) feet above finished grade for 
theater building. 

 
3.  BUILDING REQUIREMENTS 

 
a. Openspace: Openspace includes all areas excluding the 

building or areas for vehicular circulation. 
 
  A minimum of thirty percent (30%) openspace is required 

for this development. 
 

b. Floor Area Ratio: F.A.R. is the gross floor area of all 
buildings on a lot divided by the total lot area.  This square 
footage does not include any structured or surface parking.  
Planning Commission may request two (2) calculations: one 
(1) calculation for those areas above grade and another that 
includes building area below grade. 

 
  This development shall have a maximum Floor Area Ratio 

(F.A.R.) of 0.16.  
 
E.    SETBACKS 

 
1. STRUCTURE SETBACKS 

No building or structure, other than: a freestanding project 
identification sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 
flag poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 
 
All outlots shall have the following structure setbacks: 
 
a. Fifty (50) feet from the Chesterfield Airport Road right of 

way. 
 
b. Twenty (20) feet from the Public Works Drive right of way.  
 

c. Twenty (20) feet from the eastern boundary of this “PI” 
District. 

 
d. Thirty (30) feet from the internal drive known as THF 

Boulevard. 
 
The remaining portion of this development shall have the following 
structure setbacks: 
 

a.   Sixty (60) feet from Public Works Drive right of way. 
 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 5 of 22 

 

b.    One hundred (100) feet from the eastern boundary of this 
“PI” District. 

 
c.    Thirty-four (34) feet from the southern boundary of the 

outlots. 
 
d.    One hundred and twenty-five (125) feet from Edison Ave. 

right of way.   
    

2. PARKING SETBACKS 
 No parking stall, internal driveway, or roadway, except points of 

ingress and egress, will be located within the following setbacks: 
   
     All outlots shall have the following parking setbacks: 
 

a. Twenty (20) feet from Chesterfield Airport Road right of way. 
 

b. Fifteen (15) feet from Public Works Drive right of way. 
 

c. Fifteen (15) feet from the eastern boundary of this “PI” 
District. 

 
d. Twenty (20) feet from the internal drive known as THF   

Boulevard. 
 
The remaining portion of this development shall have the following 
parking setbacks: 
 

a. Thirty (30) feet from Public Works Drive right of way. 
 
b. Fifty (50) feet from the eastern boundary of this district. 
 
c. Thirty-five (35) feet from the southern boundary of this 

outlots. 
 
d. Twenty (20) feet from the Edison Avenue right of way. 
 

 3.  LOADING SPACE SETBACKS 
 

 No loading space will be located within the following setbacks: 
 

     All outlots shall have the following parking setbacks: 
 

a. Twenty (20) feet from Chesterfield Airport Road right of way. 
 

b. Fifteen (15) feet from Public Works Drive right of way. 
 

c. Fifteen (15) feet from the eastern boundary of this “PI” 
District. 

 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 6 of 22 

 

d. Twenty (20) feet from the internal drive known as THF 
       Boulevard. 
 
The remaining portion of this development shall have the following 
parking setbacks: 
 

a. Thirty (30) feet from Public Works Drive right of way. 
 
b. Fifty (50) feet from the eastern boundary of this district. 
 
c. Thirty-five (35) feet from the southern boundary of this 

outlots. 
 
d. Twenty (20) feet from the Edison Avenue right of way. 

   
F.   PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development will be as required 
in the  City of Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. Construction Parking 

 
 a. The streets surrounding this development and any street 

 used for construction access thereto shall be cleaned  
 throughout the day.  The developer shall keep the road clear 
 of mud and debris at all times. 

 
 b. Provide adequate off-street stabilized parking area(s) for 

 construction employees and a washdown station for 
 construction vehicles entering and leaving the site in order 
 to eliminate the condition whereby mud from construction 
 and employee vehicles is tracked onto the pavement 
 causing hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  

 
 c. Construction parking shall not be permitted on public-

 maintained roadways.  Adequate off-street stabilized parking 
 area(s) shall be provided for construction employees. 

 
  3. Parking lots shall not be used as streets. 

 
 G. LANDSCAPE AND TREE REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. The developer shall adhere to the Tree Manual of the City of 
Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. Landscaping in the right of way, if proposed, shall be reviewed by 

the City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works, the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic and/or the Monarch 
Levee District. 

 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 7 of 22 

 

3. A landscape buffer shall be required on the south side of 
Chesterfield Airport Road on the Site Development Concept Plan. 

 
H. SIGN REQUIREMENTS 

 
1.  Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, shall be 

reviewed by the City of Chesterfield, and/or the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, for sight distance 
considerations prior to installation or construction. 

 
2. No advertising signs, temporary signs, portable signs, off site signs, 

or attention getting devices shall be permitted in this development. 
 
3. All permanent freestanding business and identification signs shall 

have landscaping, which may include, but not be limited to, shrubs, 
annuals, and other materials, adjacent to the sign base or structural 
supports.  This landscaping shall be as approved by the Planning 
Commission on the Site Development Plan. 

 
4.  Signs shall be permitted in accordance with the regulations of the 

City of Chesterfield Code. 
 
 
 I. LIGHT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Provide a lighting plan and cut sheet in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code for additional requirements see below. 

    
  2. Parking lot lighting: 
 
   a. Fully shielded flat-lens enclosed luminaries must be used. 
    
   b. Pole heights cannot exceed a maximum of thirty-nine (39)  
    feet, in addition to the base of the pole (typically 3 feet). 
 
   c. The source type shall be metal halide. 
 
    Horizontal illuminance (measured at 5’-0” above the ground)  
    must conform, within +/- ten percent (10%), to the following  
    maintained illuminance values established by the   
    Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (IESNA):  

• Minimum 0.5 footcandles 
• Average 2.5 footcandles 
• Maximum 7.5 footcandles 
IESNA recognized maintenance factors (lamp lumen 
depreciation-LLD, luminaire dirt depreciation-LLD and 
equipment operating factor-EOF) shall be used for 
computing illuminance levels.  A metal halide parking lot 
lighting system normally requires a 0.65 combined factor. 

 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 8 of 22 

 

d. Light trespass onto neighboring properties shall be mitigated 
 such that maximum vertical illuminance measured at the 
 adjacent property line shall be not more than 0.50 
 footcandles at 5’-0” above grade.  
 
e. All lighting fixtures shall be controlled through an automated 
 system with timeclock capabilities. 
 
f. Within one (1) hour after close of business, illumination shall 
 be reduced to security lighting levels of twenty-five percent 
 (25%) of normal maintained levels. 
 
g. Searchlights are prohibited. 
 

3. Building lighting: 
 
 a. Building mounted lighting, including both utilitarian and  
  decorative applications, shall be limited to fully shielded, cut- 
  off optics, flat lens luminaries. 
 
 b. Decorative wall scones are prohibited on the sides of the  
  building. 
 
4. Maintenance: 
 All lighting installations shall be relamped or repaired as necessary 
 to maintain prescribed illumination levels and glare control. 

 
J. ARCHITECTURAL  

 
1.   The developer shall submit architectural elevations, including but 

not limited to, colored renderings and building materials.  
Architectural information is to be reviewed by the Architectural 
Review Board and the Planning Commission. 

 
2.   Building facades should be articulated by using color, arrangement 

or change in materials to emphasize the facade elements.  The 
planes of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth or 
direction.  Extremely long facades shall be designed with sufficient 
building articulation and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.   

 
 3. Trash enclosures: The location and elevation of any trash 

enclosures will be as approved by the Planning Commission on the 
Site Development Plan.  All exterior trash areas will be enclosed 
with a six (6) foot high sight-proof enclosure complimented by 
adequate landscaping approved by the Planning Commission on 
the Site Development Plan.  The material will be as approved by 
the Planning Commission in conjunction with the Site Development 
Plan. 

 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 9 of 22 

 

4.   Mechanical equipment will be adequately screened by roofing or 
other material as approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
5. Buildings shall be constructed of compatible material and design as 

adjacent commercial developments or as approved by Planning 
Commission. 

 
K. ACCESS/ACCESS MANAGEMENT 

 
1. Streets and drives related to this development shall be designed 

and located in conformance with the Chesterfield Driveway Access 
Location and Design Standards, as originally adopted by Ordinance 
No. 2103 and as may be amended from time to time. 

 
2. Access to Edison Avenue shall be limited to one street approach.  

The centerline of the street approach shall be located 
approximately five hundred-fifty (550) feet from the existing 
centerline of Public Works Drive. 

 
3. Access off internal streets or drives shall be a minimum distance of 

one hundred-fifty (150) feet from the right of way of Edison Avenue, 
as directed by the City of Chesterfield Public Works. 

 
4. No driveway access will be permitted to Edison Avenue from any 

lot within the proposed development. 
 
5. No direct access to Chesterfield Airport Road from any lot within 

the proposed development shall be permitted. 
 
6. The centerline of the interior connector road that parallels 

Chesterfield Airport shall be located approximately three hundred 
(300) feet from Chesterfield Airport Road or as directed by the City 
of Chesterfield and the St. Louis County Department of Highways 
and Traffic. 

 
7. Access to Public Works Drive shall be aligned with or a minimum of 

one hundred (100) feet from existing or proposed streets and 
entrances on the other side and no closer than one hundred (100) 
feet from each other on the same side.  Access to the drive 
entrances shall be designed to support a Singe Unit Truck radius of 
forty-two (42) feet at a minimum. 

 
8. Secondary access to the drive entrances shall be spaced no closer 

than one hundred (100) feet from the Public Works right of way, or 
as directed by the City of Chesterfield. 

 
9. Cross access shall be provided between lots within the proposed 

development.  Cross access shall be provided between lots in order 
to minimize the number of curb cuts on the interior street(s). 

 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 10 of 22 

 

10. Direct access to all outlots shall be a directed by the City of 
Chesterfield. 

 
L. PUBLIC/PRIVATE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING 
 PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION 

 
1. If street grades in excess of six percent (6%) are desired, steep 

grade approval must be obtained.  In no case shall slopes in 
excess of twelve percent (12%) be considered.  Any request for 
steep street grades must include justification prepared, signed and 
sealed by a registered professional engineer and include plans, 
profiles, boring logs, cross-sections, etc  in accordance with the 
Street Grade Design Policy.  The justification should clearly indicate 
site conditions and alternatives considered.  If steep grades are 
approved for this site, a disclosure statement shall be provided to 
all potential buyers and a note indicating that priority snow removal 
will not be given to this site shall be included on the Site 
Development Plan and Record Plat. 

 
2. Any request to install a gate at the entrance to this development 

must be approved by the City of Chesterfield and the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  No gate installation 
will be permitted on public right of way.  A minimum stacking 
distance of sixty (60) feet from any intersection and a turnaround 
for rejected vehicles designed to accommodate a single unit truck 
shall be provided in advance of the gate, as directed by the 
Department of Public Works and the St. Louis County Department 
of Highways and Traffic. 

 
3. If a gate is installed on a street in this development, the streets 

within the development or that portion of the development that is 
gated shall be private and remain private forever.  Maintenance of 
private streets, including snow removal, shall be the responsibility 
of the developer/subdivision.  In conformance with Section 
1005.265 of the Subdivision Ordinance, a disclosure statement 
shall be provided to all potential buyers.  In conformance with 
Section 1005.180 of the Subdivision Ordinance, signage indicating 
that the streets are private and owners are responsible for 
maintenance shall be posted.  Said signage shall be posted within 
thirty (30) days of the placement of the adjacent street pavement 
and maintained and/or replaced by the developer until such time as 
the subdivision trustees are residents of the subdivision, at which 
time the trustees will be responsible for maintenance. 

 
 The nearest edge of any drive or intersecting street shall be located 

at least forty (40) feet from the line of the gate, as directed. 
 
4. Please be advised that Edison Avenue is to be constructed within 

the sand berm of the Monarch Chesterfield Levee along 
Bonhomme Creek, by others.  The developer shall be required to 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 11 of 22 

 

construct any street intersections, including, but not limited to 
widenings, striping, and/or turn lanes.  Edge of pavement radii shall 
be a minimum of fifty (50) feet as directed by the City of 
Chesterfield Department of Public Works. 

 
5. The developer shall provide any additional right of way and 

construct any improvements to Chesterfield Airport Road and 
Public Works Drive as required by the St. Louis County Department 
of Highways and Traffic and the City of Chesterfield Department of 
Public Works. 

 
6. No construction parking will be permitted on the Chesterfield Airport 

Road, Edison Avenue, or Public Works Drive rights of way. 
 
7. Sidewalks shall be provided along the east side of Public Works 

Drive, the south side of Chesterfield Airport Road, and along both 
sides of the interior road of the development.  Necessary 
crosswalks to connect the sidewalks shall be provided.  All 
sidewalks shall be five (5) foot wide and constructed to St. Louis 
County ADA standards. 

 
8. Sidewalks shall be provided around the perimeter of the 

office/warehouse buildings in order to provide pedestrian circulation 
from parking lots to building entrances, or as provided by the 
Planning Commission.  Sidewalks shall be provided around the 
perimeter of the outlot buildings in order to provide pedestrian 
circulation from parking lots to building entrances, or as approved 
by the Planning Commission.  Interruptions are allowable in 
instances of conflict with loading areas and landscaping, or as 
approved by the Planning Commission.  All sidewalks shall be five 
(5) foot wide and constructed to St. Louis County ADA standards. 

 
9. Obtain approval from the City of Chesterfield Department of Public 

Works and the St. Louis County Department of Highways and 
Traffic of the locations of curb cuts, areas of new dedication, and 
roadway improvements. 

 
 M.       TRAFFIC STUDY  

 
1. Provide a traffic study as directed by the City of Chesterfield, and/or 

St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The scope 
of the study shall include internal and external circulation and may 
be limited to site specific impacts, such as the need for additional 
lanes, entrance configuration, geometrics, sight distance, traffic 
signal modifications or other improvements required, as long as the 
density of the proposed development falls within the parameters of 
the City’s traffic model.  Should the density be other than the 
density assumed in the model, regional issues shall be addressed 
as directed by the City of Chesterfield. 

 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 12 of 22 

 

2. Provide a sight distance evaluation report, as required by the City 
of Chesterfield, for the proposed entrance onto Edison and/or 
Public Works Drive.  If adequate sight distance cannot be provided 
at the access location, acquisition of right of way, reconstruction of 
pavement, including correction to the vertical alignment, and/or 
other off-site improvements shall be required, as directed by the 
City of Chesterfield.  

 
N. MONARCH-CHESTERFIELD LEVEE DISTRICT/HOWARD BEND 
 LEVEE DISTRICT 
  
            1. The developer shall dedicate an underseepage berm easement 

adjacent to the existing levee, as directed by the Monarch 
Chesterfield Levee District and the City of Chesterfield’s 
Department of Public Works. 

 
2. Prior to approval of any grading permit or improvement plans for 

the development, an underseepage study shall be submitted for 
review/approval as directed by the Monarch Chesterfield Levee 
District, the U.S. Army Corps. of Engineers and the City of 
Chesterfield’s Department of Public Works.  

 
O. RECREATIONAL EASEMENT 
 

An easement, for recreational and trail purposes shall be provided for this 
site as directed by the City of Chesterfield and the Monarch Chesterfield 
Levee District.  The easement is anticipated to be located within or 
overlying the levee/seepage berm easement.  Alternatively, the easement 
script for the seepage berm easement may permit recreational and trail 
usage as an allowable activity within the easement. 

  
 P. POWER OF REVIEW 

  
The Mayor or a Councilmember of the Ward in which a development is 
proposed may request that the site plan be reviewed and approved by the 
entire City Council.  This request must be made no later than twenty- four 
(24) hours before posting the agenda for the next City Council meeting 
after Planning Commission review and approval of the site plan.  The City 
Council will then take appropriate action relative to the proposal. 

  
 
 
 
 Q. STORMWATER AND SANITARY SEWER 

 
1. The site shall provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it 

shall be discharged at an adequate natural discharge point or an 
adequate piped system.  The adequacy and condition of the 
existing downstream systems shall be verified and upgraded if 
necessary. 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 13 of 22 

 

 
2. Emergency overflow drainage ways to accommodate runoff from 

the 100-year storm event shall be provided for all storm sewers, as 
directed by the Department of Public Works.  

 
3. Detention/retention is to be provided in each watershed as required 

by the City of Chesterfield.  Detention of storm water runoff is 
required by providing permanent detention/retention facilities, such 
as dry reservoirs, ponds, underground vaults or other alternatives 
acceptable to the Department of Public Works.  The maximum 
fluctuation from the permanent pool elevation to the maximum 
ponding elevation of a basin shall be three feet, as directed.  
Wetland mitigation shall not be permitted within a 
detention/retention basin.  The detention/retention facilities shall be 
operational prior to paving of any driveways or parking areas in 
non-residential developments or issuance of building permits 
exceeding sixty percent (60%) of the approved dwelling units in 
each plat, watershed or phase of residential developments.  The 
location and types of detention/retention facilities shall be identified 
on the Site Development Plan.   

 
4. The lowest opening of all structures shall be set at least two (2) feet 

higher than the 100-year high water elevation in detention/retention 
facilities.  All structures shall be set at least thirty (30) feet 
horizontally from the limits of the 100-year high water. 

 
5. Due to the inherent nature of development, the specific size, 

location, and configuration of the stormwater infrastructure are 
conceptual in nature.  The exact location, size and type of each 
segment of stormwater infrastructure are to be reviewed and 
approved in conjunction with the development of specific sites.  It is 
expected that developers will submit alternate plans, proposed 
alternative geometry, size, and type for these infrastructure 
improvements, along with supporting hydraulic computations.  The 
routing calculations signed and sealed by a registered professional 
engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri, 
demonstrating functionally equivalent operation shall be submitted.  
The calculations shall be performed using identical methods as the 
initial analysis, AdICPR software.  The Public Works Department 
will review said proposals for functional equivalence.  Functional 
equivalence is said to be achieved when, as determined by the 
Director of Public Works, the alternate proposal provides the same 
hydraulic function, connectivity, and system wide benefits without 
adversely affecting water surface profiles at other locations or 
adjacent properties. 

 
6. The maintenance of the required stormwater/ditch system shall be 

the responsibility of the property owner(s). 
 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 14 of 22 

 

7. The current Chesterfield Valley Sanitary Sewer Master Plan depicts 
a public pump station, force main and a series of gravity sewers 
that will serve the region surrounding this development in the 
vicinity of this development.  A functional equivalence study shall 
be submitted to the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District and the 
City of Chesterfield’s Department of Public Works for 
review/approval prior to receiving approval of the Improvement 
Plans for this development. 

 
8. Construct a 12” water main extension of the main in an east-west 

direction across the southern limit of the property, adjacent to the 
Levee District Easement.  The main shall be constructed of ductile 
iron pipe and shall connect to the existing 12” main located on the 
west side of Public Works Drive.  A functionally equivalent potable 
water extension may be submitted to the City of Chesterfield 
Department of Public Works for review and possible approval. 

 
R.       GEOTECHNICAL REPORT 

Provide a geotechnical report, prepared by a registered professional 
engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri, as directed by the 
Department of Public Works.  The report shall verify the suitability of 
grading and proposed improvements with soil and geologic conditions and 
address the existence of any potential sinkhole, ponds, dams, septic 
fields, etc., and recommendations for treatment.  A statement of 
compliance, signed and sealed by the geotechnical engineer preparing the 
report, shall be included on all Site Development Plans and Improvement 
Plans.  

 
S.       MISCELLANEOUS 

 
1.   All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 

parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction 
with the construction of any roadway on site.  Utilities Easements 
that cross over Chesterfield Valley Master Stormwater Easements 
shall be subordinate to the Chesterfield Valley Stormwater 
Easements. 

 
2. Sleeves for future telecommunication services are required to be 

installed adjacent and/or parallel to any proposed roadway, or other 
location as directed by the City of Chesterfield, in order to facilitate 
the installation of utilities and telecommunication infrastructure for 
current and future users. 

 
3. Between the hours of 7:00pm and 7:00 am, all doors shall remain 

closed except for temporary access. 
 
4. No commercial vehicles shall remain on the premises with idling 

engines between the hours of 7:00pm and 7:00 am. 
 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 15 of 22 

 

5. All deliveries and trash pick-up shall occur between the hours of 
7:00am and 7:00pm. 

 
6. All loading docks are to be screened by sound attenuating material. 
 
7. No retail, storage or displays are permitted outside the main 

building unless one side is attached to said building.  Screening for 
the remaining three (3) sides shall be approved by the Planning 
Commission as part of the Site Development Plan. 

 
8. Screening for outdoor storage shall be approved by the Planning 

Commission on the Site Development Plan and shall have the 
same sight-proof materials as approved on the Site Development 
Plan as Chesterfield Commons and Valley Crossing. 

 
9. The Planning and Zoning Committee shall review the appropriate 

Site Development Plan for each of the outparcels. 
 
10. All references herein to the City of Chesterfield Zoning Ordinance 

or sections thereof shall refer to said Ordinance and amendments 
thereto as approved by the City of Chesterfield City Council, as of 
the date the petitioner submits a Site Development Plan for review 
and approval. 

 
 

II. TIME PERIOD FOR SUBMITTAL OF SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLANS 
 AND SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS  
 

 
A. The developer shall submit a concept plan within eighteen (18) months of 

City Council approval of the change of zoning.   
 
B. In lieu of submitting a Site Development Concept Plan and Site 

Development Section Plans, the petitioner may submit a Site 
Development Plan for the entire development within eighteen (18) months 
of the date of approval of the change of zoning by the City.  

 
C. Failure to comply with these submittal requirements will result in the 

expiration of the change of zoning and will require a new public hearing. 
 

D. Said Plan shall be submitted in accordance with the combined 
requirements for Site Development Section and Concept Plans.  The 
submission of Amended Site Development Plans by sections of this 
project to the Planning Commission shall be permitted if this option is 
utilized. 

 
E. Where due cause is shown by the developer, this time interval for plan 

submittal may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 
Planning Commission.  

  



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 16 of 22 

 

   
 III.  COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 
      

A. Substantial construction shall commence within two (2) years of approval 
of the site development concept plan or site development plan, unless 
otherwise authorized by ordinance.   

 
B.  Where due cause is shown by the developer, the Commission may extend 

the period to commence construction for not more than one (1) additional 
year.   

  

IV. GENERAL CRITERIA 

A. Site Development Concept Plan, Site Development Section Plan, Site 
Development Plans. 

   
1. Any site development plan shall show all information required on a sketch 

plan as required in the City of Chesterfield Code.  
 

2. Include a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code to indicate proposed landscaping along arterial and 
collector roadways.  

 
3. Include a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield Code to 

indicate proposed lighting along arterial collector roadways. 
 

4. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 
Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, the St. Louis County Department of 
Highways and Traffic, Monarch Levee District, Spirit of St. Louis Airport 
and the Missouri Department of Transportation. 

 
 

V. CHESTERFIELD VALLEY TRUST FUND 
 
 Roads 
 

The roadway improvement contribution is based on land and building use.  The 
roadway contributions are necessary to help defray the cost of engineering, right 
of way acquisition, and major roadway construction in accordance with the 
Chesterfield Valley Road Improvement Plan on file with the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic.  The amount of the developer’s contribution 
to this fund shall be computed on the basis of the following: 
 
Type of Development    Required Contribution 
 
Commercial      $2.05/sq ft of building space 
Office       $1.43/sq ft of building space 
Industrial         $4,937.22/acre of gross acreage 
 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 17 of 22 

 

If the types of development proposed differ from those listed, rates shall be 
provided by the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic. 
 
Credits for roadway improvements required in condition will be awarded as 
directed by the St. Louis County Highways and Traffic.  Any portion of the 
roadway improvement contribution which remains, following completion of road 
improvements required by the development shall be retained in the trust fund. 
 
The roadway improvement contribution shall be deposited with the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made prior to 
the issuance of a Special Use Permit (SUP) by St. Louis County Highways and 
Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to the Treasurer, St. Louis County. 
 

 Water Main 
  

 The primary water line contribution is based on gross acreage of the 
development land area.  The contribution shall be a sum of $648.18/acre for the 
total area as approved on the Site Development Plan to be used solely to help 
defray the cost of constructing the primary water line serving the Chesterfield 
Valley area. 
 
The primary water line contributions shall be deposited with the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made prior to 
approval of the Site Development Plan unless otherwise directed by the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to the 
Treasurer, St. Louis County. 

  
Stormwater 
 
The stormwater contribution is based on gross acreage of the development land 
area.  These funds are necessary to help defray the cost of engineering and 
construction improvements for the collection and disposal of stormwater from the 
Chesterfield Valley in accordance with the Master Plan on file with and jointly 
approved by St. Louis County and the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District.  The 
amount of the stormwater contribution will be computed on the basis of 
$2,056.58/acre for the total area as approved on the Site Development Plan. 
 
The stormwater contributions to the Trust Fund shall be deposited with the St. 
Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made 
prior to the issuance of a Special Use Permit (SUP) by St. Louis County 
Highways and Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to the Treasurer, St. Louis 
County. 

 
Sanitary Sewer 
 
The sanitary sewer contribution is collected as the Caulks Creek impact fee. 
 
The sanitary sewer contributions within Chesterfield Valley area shall be 
deposited with the Metropolitan Sewer District as required by the District. 
 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 18 of 22 

 

The amount of this required contribution for the roadway, stormwater and primary 
waterline improvements, if not submitted by January 1, 2007 shall be adjusted on that 
date and on the first day of January in each succeeding year thereafter in accord with 
the construction cost index as determined by the St. Louis County Department of 
Highways and Traffic. 

 
Trust fund contributions shall be deposited with St. Louis County in the form of a cash 
escrow prior to the issuance of building permits. 

 
VI. RECORDING 

 
Within sixty (60) days of approval of any development plan by the City of 
Chesterfield, the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County 
Recorder of Deeds.  Failure to do so will result in the expiration of approval of 
said plan and require re-approval of a plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
VII. VERIFICATION PRIOR TO SPECIAL USE PERMIT ISSUANCE   
 

Prior to any Special Use Permit being issued by St. Louis County Department of 
Highways and Traffic, a special cash escrow must be established with this 
Department to guarantee completion of the required roadway improvements. 

 
VIII.  VERIFICATION PRIOR TO RECORD PLAT APPROVAL 
 
 The developer shall cause, at his expense and prior to the recording of any plat, 

the reestablishment, restoration or appropriate witnessing of all Corners of the 
United States Public Land Survey located within, or which define or lie upon, the 
outboundaries of the subject tract in accordance with the Missouri Minimum 
Standards relating to the preservation and maintenance of the United States 
Public Land Survey Corners. 

 
 
IX. VERIFICATION PRIOR TO FOUNDATION OR BUILDING PERMITS 
 

A. A grading permit or improvement plan approval is required prior to 
issuance of a building permit.  In extenuating circumstances, an exception 
to this requirement may be granted. 

 
B. All required subdivision improvements in each plat of a subdivision shall 

be completed prior to issuance of more than eighty-five percent (85%) of 
the building permits for all lots in the plat. 
 

C. Prior to the issuance of foundation or building permits, all approvals from 
all applicable agencies and the Department of Public Works, as 
applicable, must be received by the City of Chesterfield Department of 
Planning. 
 

D. Prior to issuance of foundation or building permits, all approvals from the 
City of Chesterfield, Department of Highways and Traffic and the 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 19 of 22 

 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District must be received by the St. Louis 
County Department of Public Works. 

 
E. Provide verification that construction plans are designed to conform to the 

requirements and conditions of the Geotechnical Report.  The 
Geotechnical Engineer shall be required to sign and seal all plans with a 
certification that the proposed construction will be completed in 
accordance with the grading and soil requirements and conditions 
contained in the report. 

 
F. Provide verification to the St. Louis County Department of Public Works 

and the City of Chesterfield of provision of adequate sanitary services. 
 
G. Prior to issuance of zoning approvals for foundation or building permits, 

the City of Chesterfield must receive approvals from the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic and the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer 
District. 

X. OCCUPANCY PERMIT/FINAL OCCUPANCY 

 
A. Prior to the issuance of any occupancy permit, floodplain management 

requirements shall be met. 
 
B. All lots shall be seeded and mulched or sodded before an occupancy 

permit shall be issued, except that a temporary occupancy permit may be 
issued in cases of undue hardship because of unfavorable ground 
conditions.  Seed and mulch shall be applied at rates that meet or exceed 
the minimum requirements stated in the Sediment and Erosion Control 
Manual. 

 
C. Prior to final occupancy of any building, the developer shall provide 

certification by a registered land surveyor that all monumentation depicted 
on the record plat has been installed and United States Public Land 
Survey Corners have not been disturbed during construction activities or 
that they have been reestablished and the appropriate documents filed 
with the Missouri Department of Natural Resources Land Survey Program. 

. 

XI. FINAL RELEASE OF SUBDIVISION DEPOSITS 

 Prior to final release of subdivision construction deposits, the developer shall 
provide certification by a registered land surveyor that all monumentation 
depicted on the record plat has been installed and United States Public Land 
Survey Corners have not been disturbed during construction activities or that 
they have been reestablished and the appropriate documents filed with the 
Missouri Department of Natural Resources Land Survey Program. 

 
XII. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 
 

A. Erosion and siltation control devices shall be installed prior to any clearing 
or grading and be maintained throughout the project until adequate 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 20 of 22 

 

vegetative growth insures no future erosion of the soil and work is 
accepted by the owner and controlling regulatory agency. 

 
B. General development conditions relating to the operation, construction, 

improvement and regulatory requirements to be adhered to by the 
developer are as follows:   

 
1. When clearing and/or grading operations are completed or will be 

suspended for more than five (5) days, all necessary precautions 
shall be taken to retain soil materials on site.  Protective measures 
may include a combination of seeding, periodic wetting, mulching, 
or other suitable means. 

 
2. If cut and fill operations occur during a season not favorable for 

immediate establishment of permanent ground cover, unless 
alternate storm water detention and erosion control devices have 
been designed and established, a fast germinating annual, such as 
rye or sudan grasses, shall be utilized to retard erosion. 

 
3. If cut or fill slopes in excess of the standard maximum of 3:1 

horizontal run to vertical rise are desired, approval for the steeper 
slopes must be obtained from the Director of Public Works.  
Approval of steeper slopes is limited to individual and isolated 
slopes, rock dikes, undisturbed and stable natural slopes and 
slopes blending with the natural terrain.  Design of the steep slopes 
must be performed by a registered professional engineer and 
include recommendations regarding construction methods and 
long-term maintenance of the slope.  Any steep slope proposed on 
a Site Development Plan shall be labeled and referenced with the 
following note:  Approval of this plan does not constitute approval of 
slopes in excess of 3:1.  Steep slopes are subject to the review and 
approval of the Director of Public Works.  Review of the proposed 
steep slope will be concurrent with the review of the grading permit 
or improvement plans for the project. 

 
4. Soft soils in the bottom and banks of any existing or former pond 

sites or tributaries or any sediment basins or traps should be 
removed, spread out and permitted to dry sufficiently to be used as 
fill.  This material shall not be placed in proposed public right-of-
way locations or in any storm sewer location. 

 
5. All fills placed under proposed storm and sanitary sewer lines 

and/or paved areas, including trench backfill within and off the road 
right-of-way, shall be compacted to 90 percent of maximum density 
as determined by the “Modified AASHTO T-180 Compaction Test” 
(ASTM D-1557) for the entire depth of the fill.  Compacted granular 
backfill is required in all trench excavation within the street right-of-
way and under all paved areas.  All tests shall be performed 
concurrent with grading and backfilling operations under the 
direction of a geotechnical engineer who shall verify the test results. 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 21 of 22 

 

 
6. Access/utility easements shall be required throughout the 

development.  A continuous fifteen (15) foot wide rear yard 
easement shall be provided.  At a minimum, a ten (10) foot wide 
utility/access easement shall be provided at every other lot line or 
break between structures, as directed.   

 
7. Should the design of the subdivision include retaining walls that 

serve multiple properties, those walls shall be located within 
common ground or special easements, including easements 
needed for access to the walls. 

 
8. This development may require an NPDES permit from the Missouri 

Department of Natural Resources. NPDES permits are applicable 
to construction activities that disturb one or more acres. 

 
9. The developer is advised that utility companies will require 

compensation for relocation of their utility facilities within public 
road right of way.  Utility relocation cost shall not be considered as 
an allowable credit against the petitioner’s traffic generation 
assessment contributions.  The developer should be aware of 
extensive delays in utility company relocation and adjustments.  
Such delays will not constitute a cause to allow occupancy prior to 
completion of road improvements. 

 
10. Storm water drainage improvements shall be operational prior to 

the paving of any driveways or parking lots.  Roadway and related 
improvements shall be constructed prior to 60% occupancy of the 
retail portion of the site. 

 
11. Prior to Site Development Plan approval indicate the location of the 

proposed storm sewers, detention basins, sanitary sewers, and 
connection(s) to existing systems. 

 
12. If any development in, or alteration of, the floodplain is proposed, 

the developer shall submit a Floodplain Development 
Permit/Application to the City of Chesterfield Department of Public 
Works for approval.  Be advised that in conjunction with any site 
alteration the developer will be required to demonstrate that there 
will be no adverse effect on other properties located within the 
Chesterfield Valley.  The Floodplain Development 
Permit/Application must be approved by the City of Chesterfield 
Department of Public Works prior to the approval of the 
Improvement Plans or Grading Plans.  If any change in the location 
of the Special Flood Hazard Area is proposed, the Developer shall 
be required to obtain a Letter OF Map Revision (LOMR) from the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency.  The LOMR must be 
issued by FEMA prior to the final release of any escrow held by the 
City of Chesterfield for improvements in the development. 

 



Planning Commission November 13, 2006   Tech Park II (THF Chesterfield Four Development) 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 Page 22 of 22 

 

13. If any building is proposed to be located in an existing, or proposed, 
Special Flood Hazard Area the building shall be clearly labeled as 
being located in the Floodplain on the Approved Site Development 
Plan and Improvement Plan.  The lowest Reference Level (floor), 
as defined by FEMA, shall be constructed a minimum of one (1) 
foot above the base flood elevation unless a LOMR has been 
issued by FEMA prior to construction.  The minimum elevation for 
the Reference Level for each building shall also be noted on the 
approved Site Development Plan and Improvement Plan. 

 
14. Prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit for any building within 

the development the Developer shall be required to submit an 
”Elevation Certificate” (FEMA form 81-31) for that building to the 
City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works. 

   
XIII. ENFORCEMENT 
 

A. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 
ordinance in accordance with the Site Development Concept Plan and any 
Site Development Section Plans approved by the City of Chesterfield and 
the terms of this Attachment A. 

  
B. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be 

adequate cause for revocation of approvals/permits by reviewing 
Departments and Commissions. 
 

C. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in 
this Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City 
of Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not 
limited to, the penalty provisions as set forth in the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 

D.  Waiver of Notice of Violation per the City of Chesterfield Code.   
 

E. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be 
integrated to carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 



























































































































P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 1 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
All provisions of the City of Chesterfield City Code shall apply to this 
development except as specifically modified herein.   
 

 
I.  SPECIFIC CRITERIA 
 

A. DEFINITIONS 
1. The Permitted and Ancillary Uses for this development are as 

defined below: 
 
 a. Permitted Land Uses: 
   

i. Educational Services to the Public related to Health 
Care—Services provided to the Public which provide 
education regarding health matters, with the objective 
of improving physical and emotional health status. 

 
ii. Health Services; including clinics of doctors and 

dentists—Health care services offered by 
appointment on an ambulatory basis.  Services may 
include, but is not limited to, outpatient surgery, 
examination, diagnosis, and treatment of a variety of 
medical conditions on a non-emergency basis, and 
laboratory and other diagnostic testing as ordered by 
staff or outside physician referral. 

 
iii. Laboratories—Specialized facilities capable of 

providing a variety of procedures specific to clinical 
laboratory services to health provider organizations, 
which are available on a regular and convenient 
basis. 

 
iv. Medical Care Facilities—Facilities providing health 

care services, including, but not limited to, hospitals, 
medical centers, ambulatory clinics, physicians’ 
offices, surgical centers, skilled nursing centers, long-
term car centers, assisted living, residential care and 
treatment facilities, diagnostic centers, psychiatric 
care, medical imaging centers, reproductive health 
and fertility centers, physical rehabilitation, respiratory 
therapy, dentistry, hospice and home health services.  

 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 2 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

v. Research Facilities—Facilities where research is 
conducted in support of clinical care and the collection 
of research data for clinical research programs. 

 
vi. Residential Care and Treatment Facilities—Facilities 

that provide custodial care and/or treatment services 
to persons who are not able to live independently.  
Residential facilities may include, but are not limited 
to, nursing homes, assisted living facilities, group 
homes or supported living arrangements. 

 
vii. Schools for the Handicapped—Centers equipped and 

staffed to provide education, support and 
encouragement to handicapped individuals and their 
families. 

 
a. Ancillary Uses: 
 

i. Assisted Living—A senior residence assisted by 
congregate meals, housekeeping, and personal 
services for persons who have difficulties with one or 
more essentials of daily living, but for whom full-time 
professional medical care is unnecessary. 

 
ii. Cafeterias for use by employees and guests of 

primary users—A restaurant in which employees and 
guests of primary users are served at a counter and 
carry their meals on trays to tables after paying. 

 
iii. Day Care, including Adult Day Care—A facility 

providing care for five (5) or more children under the 
age of thirteen (13), for less than twenty-four (24) 
hours per day.  Adult day care facilities are those that 
receive payment for the care of persons over eighteen 
(18) years of age for less than twenty-four (24) hours 
per day.  The adult day care center shall provide a 
structured program of personalized care for adults 
who are not capable of full independent living as a 
result of physical disability, developmental disabilities, 
emotional impairment, or frailty resulting from 
advanced age. 

 
iv. Duplicating, Mailing, Stenographic and Office 

Services—Services which provide reproduction of 
text, drawings, plans, maps, or other copy, by 
blueprinting, photocopying, mimeographing, 
reproducing shorthand or other methods of 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 3 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

duplication, and providing clerical or professional 
services. 

 
v. Hospitality Houses—Facilities that provide lodging 

and other supportive services to patients and their 
families. 

 
vi. Orthopedic Stores—A store where orthopedic support 

devices for physical impaired individuals are sold and 
additional services, such as proper measurement and 
fitting of devices, and education on the proper 
use/maintenance of said devices is provided. 

 
vii. Parking Structures, Public or Private— 
 
 Parking area-An area of land used or intended for off-

street parking facilities for motor vehicles (City of 
Chesterfield Zoning Ordinance) 

 
 Parking Space—A durably dust-proofed, properly 

graded for drainage, usable space, enclosed in a 
main building or in an accessory building, or 
unenclosed, reserved for the temporary storage of 
one vehicle, and connected to a street, alley, or other 
designated roadway by a surfaced aisle or driveway.  
Each such designated space shall comply with the 
dimensional requirements set forth in Section 
1003.165, “Off-Street Parking and Loading 
Requirements.” (City of Chesterfield Zoning 
Ordinance) 

 
viii. Pharmacies—A facility where prescription drugs are 

dispensed or compounded under the supervision of a 
registered pharmacist. 

 
ix. Schools and training facilities related to the Medical 

Professions, including but not limited to schools for 
nursing—Facilities which provide education and 
training, including but not limited to licensing and/or 
certifications, of individuals working in various areas 
of health care. 

 
x. Social Services—Services or activities undertaken to 

advance the welfare of citizens in need.  Such 
services or activities may include, but are not limited 
to: 

  



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 4 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

a. Assistance and counseling to patients and their 
families dealing with social, emotional and 
environmental problems associated with illness 
or disability. 

 
b. Outpatient social work services—the above 

provided in ambulatory settings. 
 
c. Emergency department social work services 

the above provided in emergency department 
settings within a hospital/medical center facility. 

 
xi. Substance Abuse Treatment Facility, Outpatient—

Organized hospital/medical services that provide 
medical care and/or rehabilitative treatment services 
to outpatients for whom the primary diagnosis is 
alcoholism or other chemical dependency on an out-
patient basis. 

 
xii. Terminals for buses and other Public Mass Transit 

vehicles—A depot building or area specifically 
designated for the storage of transfer of persons or 
material, or temporary storage and service of 
operable vehicles used in the transport of persons, 
goods or materials. 
 

B. PERMITTED USES 
 

 1.  The uses allowed in this “MU” Medical Use District shall be: 
   

a. Educational services to the public related to health care; 
 
b. Health services; including clinics of doctors and dentists; 

 
c. Laboratories; 

 
d. Medical Care Facilities, Excluding Hospitals; 
 
e. Research Facilities; 

 
f. Residential care and treatment facilities; 
 
g. Schools for the handicapped;  

  
        

2.   The following ancillary uses shall be permitted: 
 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 5 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

a. Assisted Living; 
 
b. Cafeterias for use by employees and guests of primary 

users; 
 

c. Day Care, including adult day care; 
 
d. Duplicating, mailing, stenographic and office services; 
 
e. Hospitality houses; 

 
f. Orthopedic stores; 
 
g. Parking structures, public or private; 

 
 

h. Pharmacies; 
 
i. Restaurants, under 2,000 square feet in gross floor area 

without drive-thrus or drive-ins; 
 
j. Schools and training facilities related to the Medical 

Professions, including but not limited to schools for nursing; 
 
k. Social services; 

 
l. Substance Abuse Treatment Facility, Outpatient; 
 
m. Terminals for buses and other Public Mass Transit vehicles. 

  
 

C.  FLOOR AREA, HEIGHT, BUILDING AND PARKING STRUCTURE 
  REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. FLOOR AREA 

 
  Total building floor area shall not exceed 385,000 square feet.   

 
 

2.  HEIGHT 
 

a. The maximum height of the building, exclusive of roof 
screening, shall not exceed five stories. 

 
b. The maximum height for the parking structure shall not 

exceed six levels. 
 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 6 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

 
 
 

3.  BUILDING REQUIREMENTS 
 
a. A minimum of 70.3% greenspace 69% openspace is 

required for this development. 
 

b.  This development shall have a maximum F.A.R. of (.63).  
 

C.    SETBACKS 
 

1. STRUCTURE SETBACKS 
No building or structure, other than: a freestanding project 
identification sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 
flag poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 
 
a. No development shall be permitted west of the creek as 

shown on the preliminary plan. 
 
b. Fifty (50) feet from the right of way of Old Woods Mill Road 

on the eastern boundary of this “MU” District.  
 

c. Twenty-five (25) feet from the northern or southern 
boundaries of the ”MU” District. 

 
d. One hundred fifty-five (155) feet from the western boundary 

of the “MU” District. 
 

    
2. PARKING SETBACKS 

 
 No parking stall, loading space, internal driveway, or roadway, 

except points of ingress or egress, will be located within the 
following setbacks: 

   
 

a. No surface parking will be permitted. 
 

b. Fifty (50) feet from the right of way of Old Woods Mill Road 
on the eastern boundary of this “MU” District. 

 
c. Twenty-five (25) feet from the northern or southern 

boundaries of the ”MU” District. 
 

d. One hundred fifty-five (155) feet from the western boundary 
of the “MU” District. 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 7 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

 
 

D.   PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development will be as required 
in the  City of Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. Construction Parking 

 
 a. The streets surrounding this development and any street 

 used for construction access thereto shall be cleaned  
 throughout the day.  The developer shall keep the road clear 
 of mud and debris at all times. 

 
 b. Provide adequate off-street stabilized parking area(s) for 

 construction employees and a washdown station for 
 construction vehicles entering and leaving the site in order 
 to eliminate the condition whereby mud from construction 
 and employee vehicles is tracked onto the pavement 
 causing hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  

 
c. No construction related parking shall be permitted within the 

South Woods Mill Road or Highway 141 rights of way 
 

  3. Parking lots shall not be used as streets. 
 

 E. LANDSCAPE AND TREE REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. The developer shall adhere to the Tree Manual of the City of 
Chesterfield Code. 

 
F. SIGN REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, shall be 

reviewed by the City of Chesterfield, for sight distance 
considerations prior to installation or construction. 

2.  Signs shall be permitted in accordance with the regulations of the 
City of Chesterfield Code. 

 
 G. LIGHT REQUIREMENTS 

Provide a lighting plan and cut sheet in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code.  

 
H. ARCHITECTURAL  

 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 8 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

1.   The developer shall submit architectural elevations, including but 
not limited to, colored renderings and building materials.  
Architectural information is to be reviewed by the Architectural 
Review Board and the Planning Commission. 

 
2.   Building facades should be articulated by using color, arrangement 

or change in materials to emphasize the facade elements.  The 
planes of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth or 
direction.  Extremely long facades shall be designed with sufficient 
building articulation and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.   

 
 3. Trash enclosures: The location, material, and elevation of any trash 

enclosures will be as approved by the Planning Commission on the 
Site Development Plan.  All exterior trash areas will be enclosed 
with a six (6) foot high sight-proof enclosure complimented by 
adequate landscaping approved by the Planning Commission on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
4.   Mechanical equipment will be adequately screened by roofing or 

other material as approved by the Planning Commission. 
 

I. ACCESS/ACCESS MANAGEMENT 
 
1. Access to South Woods Mill Road shall be limited to one main 

approach and one secondary approach that may only be utilized 
by emergency vehicles.  The location of the drives shall be as 
directed by the Department of Public Works and the Missouri 
Department of Transportation. 

 
2. No direct access to State Route 141 will be allowed from this 

parcel. 
 

 
J. PUBLIC/PRIVATE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING 
 PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION 

 
 

1. Provide any additional right of way and improve South Woods Mill 
Road along the entire frontage of the site to a 60 foot right of way 
and a 39 foot wide pavement including curb, and storm drainage 
facilities or equivalent section, as directed by the Department of 
Public Works.  A 10 foot wide Roadway Maintenance and Utility 
Easements on the west side of South Woods Mill Road will also be 
required as directed by the Department of Public Works. 

 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 9 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

2. The improvements to South Woods Mill Road shall be constructed 
within one year of issuance of any building permit for Parcel D as 
directed by the Department of Public Works.  If, near the end of the 
improvement completion period, the South Woods Mill Road 
improvements have not been completed in accordance with the 
approved plans, the developer may request an extension to the 
improvement completion period.  If, after review by the Department 
of Public Works, such longer period is deemed necessary to 
facilitate adequate and coordinated provisions for transportation, 
utility facilities, or other required improvements, the Director of 
Public Works may grant an extension so long as all guarantees are 
extended.  The Director may require as a condition of the 
extension, completion of certain items, recalculation of deposit 
amounts or other reasonable conditions as he may deem 
necessary. 

 
3. Should improvements to South Woods Mill Road be required prior 

to the connection of South Woods Mill Road to Ladue Road, as 
shown on the MoDOT master plan for improvements to the State 
Route 141 corridor, a temporary turn around at the terminus of 
South Woods Mill Road will need to be constructed as directed by 
the Department of Public Works. 

 
4. Provide any additional right-of-way and construct any 

improvements to State Route 141 as required by the Missouri 
Department of Transportation.   

 
5. Provide a 5 foot wide sidewalk, conforming to ADA standards, 

along the west side of South Woods Mill Road along the entire 
length of the site as directed by the Department of Public Works 

 
 K.       TRAFFIC STUDY  (if applicable) 

 
1. Provide a traffic study as directed by the City of Chesterfield and/or 

the Missouri Department of Transportation.  In general, the study will 
update the existing traffic study for the overall St. Luke’s Hospital 
development (Parcels A, B, C and D).The scope of the study shall 
include internal and external circulation and shall include site 
specific impacts, such as the need for additional lanes, entrance 
configuration, geometrics, sight distance, traffic signal modifications 
or other improvements required, as long as the density of the 
proposed development falls within the parameters of the City’s traffic 
model.  Should the density be other than the density assumed in the 
model, regional issues shall be addressed as directed by the City of 
Chesterfield.  The study shall also identify the thresholds of 
development at which intersection and roadway improvement will be 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 10 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

required to be constructed.  Said thresholds are to be reviewed and 
approved by the Department of Public Works. 

 
2. The traffic study shall be submitted with the Site Development 

Concept Plan/Site Development Section Plan (whichever is the first 
to occur) and shall be updated as deemed necessary by the 
Department of Planning.  

 
  

M. POWER OF REVIEW 
  
The Mayor or a Councilmember of the Ward in which a development is 
proposed may request that the site plan be reviewed and approved by the 
entire City Council.  This request must be made no later than 24 hours 
before posting the agenda for the next City Council meeting after Planning 
Commission review and approval of the site plan.  The City Council will 
then take appropriate action relative to the proposal. 

  
 N. STORMWATER AND SANITARY SEWER 

 
1. The site shall provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it 

shall be discharged at an adequate natural discharge point or 
connected to an adequate piped system.   

 
2. Detention/retention and other storm water quantity and quality 

management measures are to be provided in each watershed as 
required by the City of Chesterfield.  The storm water quantity 
management facilities, related to flood and channel protection, shall 
be operational prior to paving of any driveways or parking areas in 
non-residential development or issuance of building permits 
exceeding sixty (60%) of approved dwelling units in each plat, 
watershed or phase of residential developments.  The location and 
types of storm water management facilities shall be identified on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
3. The lowest opening of all structures shall be set at least 2 feet 

higher than the 100-year high water elevation in detention/retention 
facilities. All structures shall be set at least 30 feet horizontally from 
the limits of the 100-year high water.  

 
 

O.       GEOTECHNICAL REPORT. 

Provide a geotechnical report, prepared by a registered professional 
engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri, as directed by the 
Department of Public Works.  The report shall verify the suitability of 
grading and proposed improvements with soil and geologic conditions and 
address the existence of any potential sinkhole, ponds, dams, septic 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 11 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

fields, etc., and recommendations for treatment.  A statement of 
compliance, signed and sealed by the geotechnical engineer preparing the 
report, shall be included on all Site Development Plans and Improvement 
Plans.  

 
 

P.       MISCELLANEOUS 
 

1.   All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 
parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction 
with the construction of any roadway on site. 

 
 

II. TIME PERIOD FOR SUBMITTAL OF SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLANS 
 AND SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS  
 

A. The developer shall submit a concept plan within 18 months of City 
Council approval of the change of zoning.   

 
B. In lieu of submitting a Site Development Concept Plan and Site 

Development Section Plans, the petitioner may submit a Site 
Development Plan for the entire development within 18 months of the date 
of approval of the change of zoning by the City.  

 
C. Failure to comply with these submittal requirements will result in the 

expiration of the change of zoning and will require a new public hearing. 
 

D. Said Plan shall be submitted in accordance with the combined 
requirements for Site Development Section and Concept Plans.  The 
submission of Amended Site Development Plans by sections of this 
project to the Planning Commission shall be permitted if this option is 
utilized. 

 
E. Where due cause is shown by the developer, this time interval for plan 

submittal may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 
Planning Commission.  

  
   
 III.  COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 
      

A. Substantial construction shall commence within two (2) years of approval 
of the site development concept plan or site development plan, unless 
otherwise authorized by ordinance.   

 
B.  Where due cause is shown by the developer, the Commission may extend 

the period to commence construction for not more than one additional 
year.   



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 12 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

 

IV. GENERAL CRITERIA 

A. Site Development Concept Plan, Site Development Section Plan, Site 
Development Plans. 

   
1. Any site development plan shall show all information required on a 

sketch plan as required in the City of Chesterfield Code.  
 

2. Include a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code to indicate proposed landscaping along arterial 
and collector roadways.  

 
3. Include a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield 

Code to indicate proposed lighting along arterial collector 
roadways. 

 
4. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, and the Missouri Department 
of Transportation. 

 
 

 A. SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLAN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

   
 The Site Development Concept Plan shall include, but not be limited to, 

the following: 
 

1. Outboundary plat and legal description of the property. 
 
2.  Location of all roadways adjacent to the property and general 

location, size, and pavement widths of all interior roadways. 
 

3. Depict the location of all buildings, size, including height and 
distance from adjacent property lines and proposed use. 

 
4. Location and size of any commercial uses, types of uses proposed 

and general parking layout. 
 
5. Zoning district lines and floodplain boundaries. 
 
6. Density calculations. 
 
7. Provide a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City 

of  Chesterfield Code.  
 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 13 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

8. Provide a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 

 

 B. SITE DEVELOPMENT SECTION PLAN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS  

 
 The Site Development Section Plan shall adhere to the above criteria and 

to the following:  
 
1. Location map, north arrow, and plan scale. The scale shall be no 

greater than one (1) inch equals one hundred (100) feet. 
 

2. Parking calculations. Including calculation for  all off street parking 
spaces, required  and proposed, and the number, size and location 
for  handicap designed. 

 
 

3. Provide open space percentage for overall development including 
separate percentage for each lot on the plan.   

 
4. Provide Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.). 
 
5. A note indicating all utilities will be installed underground. 
 
6. A note indicating signage approval is separate process. 
 
7. Depict the location of all buildings, size, including height and 

distance from adjacent property lines and proposed use. 
 
8. Specific structure and parking setbacks along all roadways and 

property lines. 
 
9. Indicate location of all existing and proposed freestanding 

monument signs 
 
10. Zoning district lines, subdivision name, lot number, dimensions, and 

area, and zoning of adjacent parcels where different than site. 
 
11. Floodplain boundaries.   
 
12. Depict existing and proposed improvements within 150 feet of the 

site as directed.  Improvements include, but are not limited to, 
roadways, driveways and walkways adjacent to and across the 
street from the site, and significant natural features, such as 
wooded areas and rock formations, that are to remain or be 
removed. 

 



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 14 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

13. Depict all existing and proposed easements and rights-of-way 
within 150 feet of the site and all existing or proposed off-site 
easements and rights-of-way required for proposed improvements. 

 
14. Indicate the location of the proposed storm sewers, detention 

basins, sanitary sewers and connection(s) to the existing systems. 
 
15. Depict existing and proposed contours at intervals of not more than 

one (1) foot, and extending 150 feet beyond the limits of the site as 
directed. 

 
16. Address trees and landscaping in accordance with the City of 

Chesterfield Code.  
 
17. Comply with all preliminary plat requirements of the City of 

Chesterfield Subdivision Regulations per the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 

 
18. Signed and sealed in conformance with the State of Missouri 

Department of Economic Development, Division of Professional 
Registration, Missouri Board for Architects, Professional Engineers 
and Land Surveyors requirements. 

 
19. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, and the Missouri Department 
of Transportation. 

 
20. Compliance with Sky Exposure Plane. 

 
 
 

VII. RECORDING 
 

Within 60 days of approval of any development plan by the City of Chesterfield, 
the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds.  
Failure to do so will result in the expiration of approval of said plan and require 
re-approval of a plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
 
X. ENFORCEMENT 
 

A. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 
ordinance in accordance with the Plan approved by the City of 
Chesterfield and the terms of this Attachment A. 

  



P.Z. 09-2006 St. Luke’s Episcopal Presbyterian Hospitals (Parcel D) 

Planning Commission January 8, 2006  Page 15 of 15 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007 

 

 

 

B. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be  
adequate cause for revocation of approvals/permits by reviewing 
Departments and Commissions. 
 

C. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in 
this Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City 
of Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not 
limited to, the penalty provisions as set forth in the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 

D.  Waiver of Notice of Violation per the City of Chesterfield Code.   
 

E. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be 
integrated to carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 

 

































ERROR: ioerror
OFFENDING COMMAND: image

STACK:

(
ÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿ�ÿ�ÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿ�ÿÿÿ�ÿÿ�ÿÿÿ�ÿÿ�ÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿ�ÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿÿ�ÿÿÿ
)
-filestream- 





P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 1 of 9 

 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
All provisions of the City of Chesterfield City Code shall apply to this 
development except as specifically modified herein.   

Comprehensive Plan Policies 

 
2.1 Quality Residential Development  
2.1.1 Conservation of Existing Quality of Life  
2.1.4 Compatible In-Fill Residential Construction  
2.1.5 Provide Buffer for Existing Residential Development - 
2.1.6 Reinforce Existing Residential Development Pattern -  
2.1.11 Restrict Access of Individual Homes on Arterial Streets -  

 
 

I.  SPECIFIC CRITERIA 
 

A.  PERMITTED USES 
 

 1.  The uses allowed in this “E-One Acre” District shall be: 
   
  a. Single family detached residences.  

        
2. The above uses in the “E-One Acre District shall be restricted as 

follows: 

a. Development within this District shall maintain a density of one (1) 
acre). 

b. The minimum lot size shall be no less than 22,000 square feet.  

 
B.  HEIGHT 

 
The maximum height of the detached single family homes shall be fifty 
(50) feet. 

 
 

C.  SETBACKS 
 

1. STRUCTURE SETBACKS 
 

No building or structure, other than a freestanding subdivision 
monument sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, flag 
poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 

 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 2 of 9 

 
a. Eighty (80) feet from the right of way of Kehrs Mill Road.   
 
b. Twenty-five feet from the all other perimeter boundaries.. 

 
2. LOT CRITERIA  

 
In addition to the above-referenced requirements, no building or 
structures other than boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 
flag poles or fences, the following lot criteria shall apply: 
 
a. Front yard: Twenty-five (25) feet from the internal road.   
 

b. Side yard: Twenty (20) feet from the side property line. 
 

i. This side yard setback may be reduced up to five feet if the 
side yard setback on the adjacent property  

ii. A minimum of forty (40) feet must be maintained between 
structures. 

 
c. Rear yard setback: Twenty-five (25) feet from the rear property 

line.  .  
 

D.   PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development will be as required 
in the  City of Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. Construction Parking 

 
 a. The streets surrounding this development and any street 

 used for construction access thereto shall be cleaned  
 throughout the day.  The developer shall keep the road clear 
 of mud and debris at all times. 

 
 b. Provide adequate off-street stabilized parking area(s) for 

 construction employees and a washdown station for 
 construction vehicles entering and leaving the site in order 
 to eliminate the condition whereby mud from construction 
 and employee vehicles is tracked onto the pavement 
 causing hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  

 
  3. Parking lots shall not be used as streets. 

 
 E. LANDSCAPE AND TREE REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. The developer shall adhere to the Tree Manual of the City of 
Chesterfield Code. 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 3 of 9 

 
 
2. A minimum of 40% of the tree mass shall be maintained.   
 
3. A twenty five foot undisturbed buffer is to be retained adjacent to 

the north and east outboundary with the following bearings: 
S01°05’16”W, S88°50’07”E, S76°29’43”E, S58°08’40”E, 
N85°17’24”E. One perpendicular penetration will be permitted 
within said undisturbed buffer, not to exceed 25 feet in width, to 
allow for utility connections 

 
F. SIGN REQUIREMENTS 

 
2. Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, shall be 

reviewed by the City of Chesterfield, and/or the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, for sight distance 
considerations prior to installation or construction. 

 
3.  Signs shall be permitted in accordance with the regulations of the 

City of Chesterfield Code. 
 
 G. LIGHT REQUIREMENTS 

Provide a lighting plan and cut sheet in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code.  

  
H. ARCHITECTURAL  

 
1.   Building facades should be articulated by using color, arrangement 

or change in materials to emphasize the facade elements.  The 
planes of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth or 
direction.  Extremely long facades shall be designed with sufficient 
building articulation and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.   

 
I. ACCESS/ACCESS MANAGEMENT 

 
1. Access to Kehrs Mill Road shall be limited to one street approach.  

The street approach shall be as close to the north property line as 
practical and adequate sight distance shall be provided, as 
directed by the Department of Public Works and St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic.   

 
2. If required sight distance cannot be provided at the access 

locations, acquisition of right-of-way, reconstruction of pavement 
including correction to the vertical alignment and other off-site 
improvements may be required to provide adequate sight distance 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 4 of 9 

 
as directed by the Saint Louis County Department of Highways 
and Traffic 

 
J. PUBLIC/PRIVATE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING PEDESTRIAN 

CIRCULATION 
 

1. Improve Kehrs Mill to one half of a sixty (60) foot right-of-way and a 

thirty nine (39) foot pavement including all storm drainage facilities 

as directed by the Saint Louis County Department of Highways and 

Traffic. 

2. Provide a sidewalk conforming to Saint Louis County ADA standards 

adjacent to Kehrs Mill Road , as directed by the Saint Louis County 

Department of Highways and Traffic and the City of Chesterfield.  

3. Any request to install a gate at the entrance to this development 
must be approved by the City of Chesterfield and the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  No gate installation will 
be permitted on public right of way.   

 
4. If a gate is installed on a street in this development, the streets 

within the development or that portion of the development that is 
gated shall be private and remain private forever.   

 
5. All roadway and related improvements in each plat or phase of the 

development shall be constructed prior to 60% occupancy of that 
plat or phase. 

 
 K.       TRAFFIC STUDY  (if applicable) 

 
1. Provide a traffic study as directed by the City of Chesterfield and/or 

the St. Louis County Highways and Traffic.  The scope of the study 
shall include internal and external circulation and may be limited to 
site specific impacts, such as the need for additional lanes, 
entrance configuration, geometrics, sight distance, traffic signal 
modifications or other improvements required, as long as the 
density of the proposed development falls within the parameters of 
the City’s traffic model.  Should the density be other than the 
density assumed in the model, regional issues shall be addressed 
as directed by the City of Chesterfield. 

 
2. Provide a sight distance evaluation report, as required by the City 

of Chesterfield and/or St. Louis County Highways and Traffic for the 
proposed entrance onto Kehrs Mill Road.  If adequate sight 
distance cannot be provided at the access location, acquisition of 
right of way, reconstruction of pavement, including correction to the 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 5 of 9 

 
vertical alignment, and/or other off-site improvements shall be 
required, as directed by the City of Chesterfield and/or the Missouri 
Department of Transportation. 

 
L. POWER OF REVIEW 

  
The Mayor or a Councilmember of the Ward in which a development is 
proposed may request that the site plan be reviewed and approved by the 
entire City Council.  This request must be made no later than 24 hours 
before posting the agenda for the next City Council meeting after Planning 
Commission review and approval of the site plan.  The City Council will 
then take appropriate action relative to the proposal. 

  
 M. STORMWATER  

 
1. The site shall provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it 

shall be discharged at an adequate natural discharge point or 
connected to an adequate piped system.   

 
2. Detention/retention and other storm water quantity and quality 

management measures are to be provided in each watershed as 
required by the City of Chesterfield.  The storm water quantity 
management facilities, related to flood and channel protection, shall 
be operational prior to paving of any driveways or parking areas in 
non-residential development or issuance of building permits 
exceeding sixty (60%) of approved dwelling units in each plat, 
watershed or phase of residential developments.  The location and 
types of storm water management facilities shall be identified on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
3. Detention may be required for the entire project such that the 

release rates will not exceed the allowable release rates for the 
post developed peak flow of the 2-year and 100-year, 24 hour 
storm event. Stormwater must be discharged at an adequate 
discharge point. Wetland mitigation will not be allowable within the 
detention basin area 

 
4. Lake(s), ponds(s), detention area(s), etc., are located downstream 

from the proposed development which may, in the opinion of the 
Chesterfield, be impacted by development of the subject site.  A 
bond, in a form acceptable to the City of Chesterfield, shall be 
posted to assure compliance with this section.  The developer shall 
perform preconstruction and post-construction surveys of these 
facilities and determine any changed condition.  Preconstruction 
surveys shall be performed prior to any clearing, grading, 
demolition or other construction related to the proposed 
development.  Post-construction surveys shall be performed within 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 6 of 9 

 
twelve (12) months of the completion of the proposed development 
or two (2) years from the start of the development, whichever is 
greater.  The developer shall return affected facilities to their 
preconstruction condition within 3 months of the post-construction 
survey.  If the owner/operator of potentially impacted facilities will 
not grant the developer the necessary easements to complete the 
surveys and/or restorative work, the requirements in this paragraph 
are null and void.  The required bond and preconstruction survey of 
downstream facilities shall be submitted prior to approval of a 
grading permit or improvement plans. 

 
N.  SANITARY SEWER 

 
1.  Treatment for water quality and channel protection, in accordance 

with MSD regulations dated February 2006, may be required.. 
 
2. This project is in the Caulks Creek Surcharge area and is subject 

to a surcharge of $2,750 per acre.  
 

 
O.       GEOTECHNICAL REPORT. 

Provide a geotechnical report, prepared by a registered professional 
engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri, as directed by the 
Department of Public Works.  The report shall verify the suitability of 
grading and proposed improvements with soil and geologic conditions 
and address the existence of any potential sinkhole, ponds, dams, septic 
fields, etc., and recommendations for treatment.  A statement of 
compliance, signed and sealed by the geotechnical engineer preparing 
the report, shall be included on all Site Development Plans and 
improvement plans 

 
P.       MISCELLANEOUS 

 
1. All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 

parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction with 
the construction of any roadway on site. 

 
2 The developer is advised that utility companies will require 

compensation for relocation of their facilities with public road right-of-
way. The developer should also be aware of extensive delays in 
utility company relocation and adjustments.  Such delays will not 
constitute a cause to allow occupancy prior to completion of road 
improvements.     

 
3. Prior to Special Use Permit issuance by the Saint Louis County 

Department of Highways and Traffic, a special cash escrow or a 
special escrow supported by an Irrevocable Letter of Credit, must be 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 7 of 9 

 
established with the Saint Louis County Department of Highways 
and Traffic to guarantee completion of the required roadway 
improvements. 

 
4. As this development is not subject to traffic generation assessment, 

the roadway improvements required herein represent the 
developer’s road improvement obligation.  These improvements will 
not exceed an amount established by multiplying the ordinance-
required parking spaces by the following applicable rates: 

 
II. TIME PERIOD FOR SUBMITTAL OF SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLANS 
 AND SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS  
 

1. The developer shall submit a concept plan within 18 months of City 
Council approval of the change of zoning.   

 
2. In lieu of submitting a Site Development Concept Plan and Site 

Development Section Plans, the petitioner may submit a Site 
Development Plan for the entire development within 18 months of the date 
of approval of the change of zoning by the City.  

 
3. Failure to comply with these submittal requirements will result in the 

expiration of the change of zoning and will require a new public hearing. 
 

4. Said Plan shall be submitted in accordance with the combined 
requirements for Site Development Section and Concept Plans.  The 
submission of Amended Site Development Plans by sections of this 
project to the Planning Commission shall be permitted if this option is 
utilized. 

 
5. Where due cause is shown by the developer, this time interval for plan 

submittal may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 
Planning Commission.  

  
   
 III.  COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 
      

A. Substantial construction shall commence within two (2) years of approval 
of the site development concept plan or site development plan, unless 
otherwise authorized by ordinance.   

 
B.  Where due cause is shown by the developer, the Commission may extend 

the period to commence construction for not more than one additional 
year.   

 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 8 of 9 

 
IV. GENERAL CRITERIA 

A. Site Development Concept Plan, Site Development Section Plan, Site 
Development Plans. 

   
1. Any site development plan shall show all information required on a 

sketch plan as required in the City of Chesterfield Code.  
 

2. Include a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code to indicate proposed landscaping along arterial 
and collector roadways.  

 
3. Include a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield 

Code to indicate proposed lighting along arterial collector 
roadways. 

 
4. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, and the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic. 

 
 

V. RECORDING 
 

Within 60 days of approval of any development plan by the City of Chesterfield, 
the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds.  
Failure to do so will result in the expiration of approval of said plan and require 
re-approval of a plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
 
VI. ENFORCEMENT 
 

A. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 
ordinance in accordance with the Site Development Plan approved by the 
City of Chesterfield and the terms of this Attachment A. 

  
B. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be 

adequate cause for revocation of approvals/permits by reviewing 
Departments and Commissions. 
 

C. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in 
this Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City 
of Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not 
limited to, the penalty provisions as set forth in the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 

D.  Waiver of Notice of Violation per the City of Chesterfield Code.   
 



P.Z. 02-2007 The Estates at Upper Kehrs Mill 
Planning Commission  May 14, 2007 
Page 9 of 9 

 
E. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be 

integrated to carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 



























III.E 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
May 16, 2007 
 
 
Planning and Zoning Committee 
City of Chesterfield 
690 Chesterfield Pkwy W 
Chesterfield, MO 63017 
 
 
RE:   P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park (18652, 18630, 18650, and 

18660 Olive Road):  A request for a change of zoning from “NU” Non-
Urban to “PI” Planned Industrial for a 52.89 acres of land located south 
of Olive Street Road, east of Wardenburg.  (17W420057, 17W420035, 
17W230010, 17W230021). 

 
  
Dear Planning and Zoning Committee: 
 
At the May 14, 2007 City of Chesterfield Planning Commission meeting, a 
recommendation for approval of the above-referenced matter was approved by 
a vote of 8-0.   The motion for approval included an amendment to the parking 
requirement.  The amendment was as follows: 
 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development shall be four (4) 
spaces for every 1,000 square feet of development.  as required 
in the City of Chesterfield Code.  

 
Attached please find a copy of the Department report and Attachment A as 
approved by the Planning Commission.   
 
Respectfully submitted,        
 
 
Aimee E. Nassif 
Senior Planner of Zoning Administration 
 
Cc:     Michael G. Herring, City Administrator 

Rob Heggie, City Attorney 
Michael O. Geisel, Director of Public Works / City Engineer/Acting 
Director of Planning 
 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 1 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
All provisions of the City of Chesterfield City Code shall apply to this 
development except as specifically modified herein.   

 
I.  SPECIFIC CRITERIA 
 

A.  PERMITTED USES 
 

 1.  The uses allowed in this “PI” District shall be: 
   
  a. Animal hospitals, veterinary clinics. 

b. Meat packing facilities. 
c. Broadcasting studios for radio and television.  
d. Broadcasting, transmitting, or relay towers, studios, and 

associated facilities for radio, television, and other 
communications.  

e. Business, professional, and technical training schools.  
f. Business service establishments.  
g. Cafeterias for employees and guests only.   
h. Churches shall be allowed on tracts of land of at least one 

(1) acre in size.   
i. Financial institutions. 
j. Filling stations, including emergency towing and repair 

services.  
k. Gymnasiums, indoor swimming pools, indoor handball and 

racquetball courts (public or private), and indoor and 
unlighted outdoor tennis courts (public or private). 

l. Storage and charter of boats on land, repair facilities for 
boats, and sale of fuel and other supplies for marine use.  

m. Highway department garages.  
n. Hotels and motels. 
o. Laundries and dry cleaning plants, not including personal 

and individual drop-off and pick-up service. 
p. Local public utility facilities, provided that any installation, 

other than poles and equipment attached to the poles, shall 
be: 

i. Adequately screened with landscaping, fencing or 
walls, or any combination thereof; or  

ii. Placed underground; or  
iii. Enclosed n a structure in such a manner so as to 

blend with and complement the character of the 
surrounding area.   

All plans for screening these facilities shall be submitted to 
the Department of Planning for review.  No building permit or 
installation permit shall be issued until these plans have 
been approved by the Department of Planning.   



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 2 
 
 
 

  
q. Mail order sale warehouses.  
r. Manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, processing, or 

packaging of any commodity except: 
 

i. Facilities producing or processing explosives or 
flammable gases or liquids; 

  
ii. Facilities for animal slaughtering or rendering;  

 
iii. Sulpher plants, rubber reclamation plants, or 

cement plants; and  
 

iv. Steel mills, foundries, or smelters.  
 

s. Medical and dental offices. 
t. Office or office buildings. 
u. Parking areas, including garages, for automobiles, but not 

including any sales of automobiles, or the storage of 
wrecked or otherwise damaged and immobilized automotive 
vehicles for a period in excess of seventy-two (72) hours.  

v. Plumbing, electrical, air conditioning, and heating equipment 
sales, warehousing and repair facilities.  

w. Police, fire, and postal stations.  
x. Printing and duplicating services.  
y. Public utility facilities.  
z. Research facilities, professional and scientific laboratories, 

including photographic processing laboratories used in 
conjunction therewith.   

aa. Restaurants, fast food. 
bb. Restaurants, sit down.  
cc. Sales, rental, and leasing of new and used vehicles, 

including automobiles, trucks, trailers, construction 
equipment, agricultural equipment, and boats, as well as 
associated repairs and necessary outdoor storage of said 
vehicles.   

dd. Sales, servicing, repairing, cleaning, renting, leasing, and 
necessary outdoor storage of equipment and vehicles used 
by business, industry, and agriculture.  

ee. Service facilities, studios, or work areas, for antique 
salespersons, artists, candy makers, craft persons, 
dressmakers, tailors, music teachers, dance teachers, 
typists, and stenographers, including cabinet makers, film 
processors.  Goods and services associated with these uses 
may be sold or provided directly to the public on the 
premises.   

ff. Storage and repair garages for public mass transit vehicles.  
gg. Storage yards for lumber, coal, and construction materials.  



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 3 
 
 
 

hh. Stores, shops, markets, service facilities, and automotive 
vending facilities in which goods or services of any kind, 
including sale of motor vehicles, are being offered for sale or 
hire to the general public on the premises.  

ii. Union halls and hiring halls. 
jj. Vehicle repair facilities.  
kk. Vehicle service centers. 
ll. Welding, sheet metal, and blacksmith shops. 
mm. Yards for storage of contractors’ equipment, materials, and 

supplies, excluding junk yards and salvage yards.  
         

 2.  The following Ancillary Uses shall be permitted: 
 

a. Automatic vending facilities for: 
 

i. Ice and solid carbon dioxide (dry ice); 
ii. Beverages; 
iii. Confections. 

 
 

B.  FLOOR AREA, HEIGHT, BUILDING AND PARKING STRUCTURE 
  REQUIREMENTS 

 
1.  HEIGHT 
 

a. The maximum height of the buildings, exclusive of roof 
screening, shall not exceed forty (40) feet. 

 
2.  BUILDING REQUIREMENTS 

 
a.  Until such time as the connection of the site to a permanent 

sanitary sewer system, a minimum fifty percent (50%) open 
space is required for this development. Upon connection to 
a sanitary sewer system, a minimum of thirty percent (30%) 
openspace will be required for this development. 

 
C.    SETBACKS 

 
1. STRUCTURE SETBACKS 

No building or structure, other than: a freestanding project 
identification sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 
flag poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 
 
a. Fifty (50) feet from the right-of-way of Olive Street Road. 

 
b. Fifty (50) feet from 18668 Olive Street Road. 
 
c. Fifty (50) feet from 18626 Olive Street Road. 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 4 
 
 
 

 
d. Fifty (50) feet from the eastern and western property lines of 

this development. 
 

e. Fifty (50) feet from the southern property line of this 
development.  

 
    

2. PARKING SETBACKS 
 

 No parking stall or loading space will be located within the following 
setbacks: 

   
a. Thirty five (35) feet from the right-of-way Olive Street Road. 
 
b. Ten (10) feet from the internal property lines, with the 

exception of shared driveways. 
 
c.  Twenty (20) feet from the principal internal street. 
 
d. Fifteen (15) feet from the eastern and western property lines 

of this development.  
 

e. The parking setback along the western property line 
contiguous to 18668 Olive Street Road for the first 175 feet 
from Olive Street Road shall be thirty (30) feet.  The parking 
setback for the remainder of this property line shall be fifteen 
(15) feet.   

 
f. Fifteen (15) feet from the northern property line bearing 

S78°19’49”W.   
 

3. No internal driveway or roadway, except points of ingress and 
egress, will be located within the following setbacks: 

 
  a. Thirty (30) feet from the right-of-way of Olive Street Road. 
  

b. Three hundred fifty (350) feet from the southern property 
line.  

 
c. Two hundred seventy five (275) feet from the eastern and 

western property lines of this development.   
 

d. Zero (0) feet from the eastern property line bearing 
N11°25’51”W. 

 
 
 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 5 
 
 
 
 

D.   PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development shall be as 
required in the City of Chesterfield Code.  

 
2. Construction Parking 

 
 a. The streets surrounding this development and any street 

 used for construction access thereto shall be cleaned  
 throughout the day.  The developer shall keep the road clear 
 of mud and debris at all times. 

 
 b. Provide adequate off-street stabilized parking area(s) for 

 construction employees and a washdown station for 
 construction vehicles entering and leaving the site in order 
 to eliminate the condition whereby mud from construction 
 and employee vehicles is tracked onto the pavement 
 causing hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  

 
c. No construction related parking shall be permitted within the 

Olive Street Road right-of-way.  
 
3. No parking shall be permitted on any roadway in or adjacent to the 

development.  The parking restriction and requirement for signage 
shall be indicated on the Site Development Plan and improvement 
plans.  Signage shall be posted within thirty (30) days of the 
placement of street pavement.   

 
 
 
 E. LANDSCAPE AND TREE REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. The developer shall adhere to the Tree Manual of the City of 
Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. The landscape buffer along the western property line shall be as 

follows: 
 

a. A thirty (30) foot landscape buffer measuring no less than 
175 feet in length from Olive Street Road will be required 
along the western property line contiguous to the residential 
structure at 18668 Olive Street Road.  

 
b. A fifteen (15) foot landscape buffer shall be required for the 

remainder of the western property line.  
 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 6 
 
 
 

c. If the residential structure at 18668 Olive Street Road is re-
developed into a use other than residential, the thirty (30) 
foot landscape buffer requirement may be reduced to fifteen 
(15) feet as directed by the City of Chesterfield.   

 
3. There shall be a fifteen (15) foot landscape buffer along the northern 

property line bearing S78°19’49”W.   
 

F. SIGN REQUIREMENTS 
 

1.  Sign package submittal materials shall be required for this 
development. All sign packages shall be reviewed and approved by 
the City of Chesterfield Planning Commission. 

 
2. Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, shall be 

reviewed by the City of Chesterfield, and/or the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, for sight distance 
considerations prior to installation or construction. 

 
 G. LIGHT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Provide a lighting plan and cut sheet in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code.  

 
H. ARCHITECTURAL  

 
1.   The developer shall submit architectural elevations, including but 

not limited to, colored renderings and building materials.  
Architectural information is to be reviewed by the Architectural 
Review Board and the Planning Commission. 

2.   Building facades should be articulated by using color, arrangement 
or change in materials to emphasize the facade elements.  The 
planes of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth or 
direction.  Extremely long facades shall be designed with sufficient 
building articulation and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.   

 
 3. Trash enclosures: The location, material, and elevation of any trash 

enclosures will be as approved by the Planning Commission on the 
Site Development Plan.  All exterior trash areas will be enclosed 
with a six (6) foot high sight-proof enclosure complimented by 
adequate landscaping approved by the Planning Commission on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
4.   Mechanical equipment will be adequately screened by roofing or 

other material as approved by the Planning Commission. 
 

I. ACCESS/ACCESS MANAGEMENT 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 7 
 
 
 

 
1.  Access to Olive Street Road shall be limited to two (2) street 

approaches, as directed by the Department of Public Works and St. 
Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.   

 
2. Provide for cross access to the properties adjoining this 

development to the east and west, as directed by the City of 
Chesterfield, to allow for future connection to the internal roadway 
system within this development.   

 
J. PUBLIC/PRIVATE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING 
 PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION 

 
1. Provide a street connection to the property to the west.  The 

connection shall be a minimum of five hundred (500) feet from 
Olive Street Road, as directed by the City of Chesterfield.   

 
2. All roadway and related improvements shall be constructed prior to 

60% occupancy of the development.   
 

3. Provide any additional right of way and construct any improvements 
to Olive Street Road as required by St. Louis County Department of 
Highways and Traffic.   

 
4. Provide a 40 foot right of way with a minimum of 10 foot roadway 

improvement, maintenance, utility and sewer easement son both 
sides for all interior roadways.  Minimum roadway sections shall 
provide a 26 foot travel way with 7 foot shoulders on both sides and 
appurtenant storm drainage facilities as required by the Department 
of Public Works.   

 
5. Provide a five (5) foot wide sidewalk, conforming to ADA standards, 

along the Olive Street Road frontage of the site and along one (1) 
side of all interior roadways, as directed by the City of Chesterfield.  
The sidewalk shall be privately maintained; therefore, no public 
easements shall be required.   

 
6. Improve Olive Street Road to one half of a sixty (60) foot right-of-

way and a thirty eight (38) foot pavement with seven (7) foot full 
depth shoulders and additional widening to provide a minimum 
thirty three (33) foot wide road surface for a two hundred (200) foot 
left turn lane serving each entrance along with fifty to one (50:1) 
tapers and including all storm drainage facilities as directed by the 
St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  Widening 
may be required on opposite side of street to provide a minimum 
thirty three (33) foot pavement for three driving lanes in addition to 
seven (7) foot shoulder.   

 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 8 
 
 
 

7. Access to this development from Olive Street Road shall be 
restricted to two (2) commercial entrances, each having a three (3) 
lane section of a minimum thirty six (36) foot pavement for a 
minimum distance of one hundred (100) feet, in order to provide 
separate left and right turn lanes for outbound traffic along with a 
single inbound lane.  These driveways shall be located to provide 
required sight distance and constructed to St. Louis County 
standards as directed by the St. Louis County Department of 
Highways and Traffic and the City of Chesterfield.  The 
easternmost driveway serving this site should be located opposite 
an existing commercial entrance on the north side of Olive Street 
Road in this area.   

 
8. Provide cross access easement and temporary slope construction 

license or other appropriate legal instrument or agreement 
guaranteeing permanent access between this site and adjacent 
properties as directed by the St. Louis County Department of 
Highways and Traffic and the City of Chesterfield.   

 
9. If required sight distance cannot be provided at the access 

locations, acquisition of right-of-way, reconstruction of pavement 
including correction to the vertical alignment and other off-site 
improvements may be required to provide adequate sight distance 
as directed by the St. Louis County Department of Highways and 
Traffic.   

 
 K.       TRAFFIC STUDY   

 
1. Provide a traffic study as directed by the City of Chesterfield and/or 

the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The 
scope of the study shall include internal and external circulation and 
may be limited to site specific impacts, such as the need for 
additional lanes, entrance configuration, geometrics, sight distance, 
traffic signal modifications or other improvements required, as long 
as the density of the proposed development falls within the 
parameters of the City’s traffic model.  Should the density be other 
than the density assumed in the model, regional issues shall be 
addressed as directed by the City of Chesterfield. 

 
L. MONARCH-CHESTERFIELD LEVEE DISTRICT 

 
1. East entrance location will require relocation of fire hydrant 

proposed on the MCLD Sewer Improvements.  
 
2. Stormwater ditches shall match the latest provided by the City of 

Chesterfield.  
 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 9 
 
 
 

3. The easement that will be required for the proposed MCLD force 
main at the southwest corner of the Albrecht tract and the 
easements for the proposed utilities along Olive Street Road shall 
be shown on the site development concept and section plans.   

 
M. POWER OF REVIEW 

  
The Mayor or a Councilmember of the Ward in which a development is 
proposed may request that the site plan be reviewed and approved by the 
entire City Council.  This request must be made no later than 24 hours 
before posting the agenda for the next City Council meeting after Planning 
Commission review and approval of the site plan.  The City Council will 
then take appropriate action relative to the proposal. 

  
 N. STORMWATER  

 
1. Due to the inherent nature of development, the specific size, 

location, and configuration of the storm water infrastructure 
associated with the Chesterfield Valley Master Storm Water Plan are 
conceptual in nature. The exact location, size, and type of each 
segment of storm water infrastructure are to be reviewed and 
approved in conjunction with the development of specific sites.  The 
developer will be required to construct ditches along the west, north, 
and east property lines of the property governed by this ordinance. 

 
The developer may elect to propose alternate geometry, size 
and/or type of storm sewer improvements that are functionally 
equivalent to the required improvements.  Functional equivalence is 
said to be achieved when, as determined by the City of 
Chesterfield, the alternate proposal provides the same hydraulic 
function, connectivity, and system-wide benefits without adversely 
affecting any of the following: water surface profiles at any location 
outside the development; future capital expenditures; maintenance 
obligations; equipment needs; frequency of maintenance; and 
probability of malfunction.  The City will consider, but is not 
obligated to accept, the developer’s alternate plans.  If the City 
determines that the developer’s proposal may be functionally 
equivalent to the Chesterfield Valley Master Storm Water Plan 
improvements, hydraulic routing calculations will be performed to 
make a final determination of functional equivalence.  The Director 
will consider the developer’s proposal, but is not obligated to have 
the hydraulic analysis performed if any of the other criteria 
regarding functional equivalence will not be met.  The hydraulic 
routing calculations regarding functional equivalence may be 
performed by a consultant retained by the City.  The developer 
shall be responsible for all costs related to the work performed by 
the consultant. 

 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 10 
 
 
 

2. Provide any additional Chesterfield Valley Storm Water Easements 
along the north, east, and west property lines as required and 
directed by the Department of Public Works to accommodate the 
Chesterfield Valley Master Storm Water Plan channel in those 
areas, and depict the channel(s) on the Site Development Plan 
and improvement plans.  The maintenance of the required storm 
water/ditch system shall be the responsibility of the property 
owner(s). 

 
3. All Chesterfield Valley Master Storm Water Plan improvements 

shall be operational prior to the paving of any driveways or parking 
areas, as directed by the City of Chesterfield. 

 
4. The site shall provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it 

shall be discharged at an adequate natural discharge point or 
connected to an adequate piped system.   

 
5. Detention/retention and other storm water quantity and quality 

management measures are to be provided in each watershed as 
required by the City of Chesterfield.  The storm water quantity 
management facilities, related to flood and channel protection, shall 
be operational prior to paving of any driveways or parking areas in 
non-residential development or issuance of building permits 
exceeding sixty (60%) of approved dwelling units in each plat, 
watershed or phase of residential developments.  The location and 
types of storm water management facilities shall be identified on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
6. Stormwater should be controlled as required by the Chesterfield 

Valley Master Facility Plan.   
 

O.  SANITARY SEWER 
 

1. Private sewer lines and laterals cannot cross property lines.  
Extension of public sewer lines will be necessary to serve this site 
and proper easements required.  

 
2. Downstream pump stations and force mains shall be evaluated to 

ensure adequate capacity.  
 
3. Provide public sewer service for the site, including sanitary force 

main, gravity lines and/or regional pump stations, as directed by the 
Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District and the City of Chesterfield. 

 
4. This project is in the Caulks Creek Surcharge Area and is subject to 

a surcharge of $2750.00 per acre.   
 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 11 
 
 
 

P.       GEOTECHNICAL REPORT. 

Prior to Site Development Concept Plan approval, provide a geotechnical 
report, prepared by a registered professional engineer licensed to practice 
in the State of Missouri, as directed by the Department of Public Works.  
The report shall verify the suitability of grading and proposed 
improvements with soil and geologic conditions and address the existence 
of any potential sinkhole, ponds, dams, septic fields, etc., and 
recommendations for treatment.  A statement of compliance, signed and 
sealed by the geotechnical engineer preparing the report, shall be 
included on all Site Development Plans and Improvement Plans.  

 
 

Q.       MISCELLANEOUS 
 

1.   All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 
parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction 
with the construction of any roadway on site. 

 
2. The developer is advised that utility companies will require 

compensation for relocation of their facilities with public road right-
of-way.  Utility relocation cost shall not be considered as an 
allowable credit against the petitioner’s traffic generation 
assessment contribution.  The developer should also be aware of 
extensive delays in utility company relocation and adjustments.  
Such delays will not constitute a cause to allow occupancy prior to 
completion of road improvements.   

 
II. TIME PERIOD FOR SUBMITTAL OF SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLANS 
 AND SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS  
 

A. The developer shall submit a concept plan within 18 months of City 
Council approval of the change of zoning.   

 
B. In lieu of submitting a Site Development Concept Plan and Site 

Development Section Plans, the petitioner may submit a Site 
Development Plan for the entire development within 18 months of the 
date of approval of the change of zoning by the City.  

 
C. Failure to comply with these submittal requirements will result in the 

expiration of the change of zoning and will require a new public hearing. 
 

D. Said Plan shall be submitted in accordance with the combined 
requirements for Site Development Section and Concept Plans.  The 
submission of Amended Site Development Plans by sections of this 
project to the Planning Commission shall be permitted if this option is 
utilized. 

 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 12 
 
 
 

E. Where due cause is shown by the developer, this time interval for plan 
submittal may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 
Planning Commission.  

  
   
 III.  COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 
      

A. Substantial construction shall commence within two (2) years of approval 
of the site development concept plan or site development plan, unless 
otherwise authorized by ordinance.   

 
B.  Where due cause is shown by the developer, the Commission may extend 

the period to commence construction for not more than one additional 
year.   

 

IV. GENERAL CRITERIA 

A. Site Development Concept Plan, Site Development Section Plan, Site 
Development Plans. 

   
1. Any site development plan shall show all information required on a 

sketch plan as required in the City of Chesterfield Code.  
 

2. Include a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code to indicate proposed landscaping along arterial 
and collector roadways.  

 
3. Include a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield 

Code to indicate proposed lighting along arterial collector 
roadways. 

 
4. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, St. 

Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic, Monarch 
Chesterfield Levee District, Spirit of St. Louis Airport and St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  

 
 

V. TRUST FUND CONTRIBUTION 

A. The developer shall be required to contribute to the Chesterfield Valley 
Trust Fund. Traffic generation assessment contributions shall be 
deposited with St. Louis County prior to the issuance of building permits.  
If development phasing is anticipated, the developer shall provide the 
traffic generation assessment contribution prior to issuance of building 
permits for each phase of development.   

 
  
Roads 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 13 
 
 
 

The amount of the developer’s contribution to this fund shall be computed based 
on the following:   

 
Type of Development   Required Contribution 

Commercial     $2.07/sq.ft.of building space 
Office      $1.44/ sq.ft.of building space 
Industrial     $4,986.59/acre 
 
(Parking spaces as required by the City of Chesterfield Code.) 
 
If types of development differ from those listed, the Department of Highways and 
Traffic will provide rates. 
 
Credits for roadway improvements will be awarded by the City of Chesterfield 
and/or St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  Any portion of the 
roadway improvement contribution that remains, following completion of road 
improvements as required by the development shall be retained in the 
appropriate Trust Fund.  

 
The roadway improvement contribution shall be deposited with the Saint Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made before 
the issuance of a Special Use Permit (SUP) by the Saint Louis County Highways 
and Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to the “Treasurer, Saint Louis County.” 
 
Trust fund contributions shall be deposited with Saint Louis County in the form of 
a cash escrow prior to the issuance of building permits.  

 
 Water Main 

 The primary water line contribution is based on gross acreage of the 
development land area.  The contribution shall be a sum of $654.66 per acre for 
that total area as approved on the Site Development Plan to be used solely to 
help defray the cost of construction the primary water line serving the 
Chesterfield Valley area.   

 
The primary water line contribution shall be deposited with the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic. The deposit shall be made before approval 
of the Site Development Plan by St. Louis County Highways and Traffic.  Funds 
shall be payable to the “Treasurer, Saint Louis County”. 

 
Stormwater 
The storm water contribution is based on gross acreage of the development land 
area.  These funds are necessary to help defray the cost of engineering and 
construction improvements for the collection and disposal of storm water from 
the Chesterfield Valley in accordance with the Master Plan on file with and jointly 
approved by Saint Louis County and MSD.  The amount of storm water 
contribution will be computed based on $2,077.15 per acre for the total area as 
approved on the Site Development Plan.  The storm water contributions to the 
Trust Fund shall be deposited with the Saint Louis County Department of 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 14 
 
 
 

Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made before the issuance of a 
Special Use Permit (SUP) by Saint Louis County Department of Highways and 
Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to the “Treasure, Saint Louis County.” 

 
Sanitary Sewer 
The sanitary sewer contribution is collected as the Caulks Creek Impact Fee. 
The sanitary sewer contribution within Chesterfield Valley area shall be 
deposited with MSD as required by the District.  

 
The amount of these required contributions for the roadway, storm water and 
primary water line improvements, if not submitted by January 1, 2008 shall be 
adjusted on that date and on the first day of January in each succeeding year 
thereafter in accordance with the construction cost index as determined by the 
Saint Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.   
 
Trust Fund contributions shall be deposited with St. Louis County in the form of a 
cash escrow prior to the issuance of building permits.  

 
VI. RECORDING 

 
Within 60 days of approval of any development plan by the City of Chesterfield, 
the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds.  
Failure to do so will result in the expiration of approval of said plan and require 
re-approval of a plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
VII.   VERIFICATION PRIOR TO RECORD PLAT APPROVAL 
 

 The developer shall cause, at his expense and prior to the recording of any plat, 
the re-establishment, restoration or appropriate witnessing of all Corners of the 
United States Public Land Survey located within, or which define or lie upon, the 
outboundaries of the subject tract in accordance with the Missouri Minimum 
Standards relating to the preservation and maintenance of the United States 
Public Land Survey Corners.   
 

VIII. FINAL RELEASE OF SUBDIVISION DEPOSITS 
 

 Prior to final release of subdivision construction deposits, the developer shall 
provide certification by a registered land surveyor that all monumentation 
depicted on the record plat has been installed and United States Public Land 
Survey Corners have not been disturbed during construction activities or that 
they have been reestablished and the appropriate documents filed with the 
Missouri Department of Natural Resources Land Survey Program.  

 
IX. ENFORCEMENT 
 

A. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 
ordinance in accordance with the Plan approved by the City of 
Chesterfield and the terms of this Attachment A. 



Planning Commission May 14, 2007 P.Z. 07-2007 Spirit Valley Business Park 
  Page 15 
 
 
 

  
B. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be 

adequate cause for revocation of approvals/permits by reviewing 
Departments and Commissions. 
 

C. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in 
this Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City 
of Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not 
limited to, the penalty provisions as set forth in the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 

D.  Waiver of Notice of Violation per the City of Chesterfield Code.   
 

E. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be 
integrated to carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 















































P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 1 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
All provisions of the City of Chesterfield City Code shall apply to this 
development except as specifically modified herein.   
 

 
I.  SPECIFIC CRITERIA 
 

A.  PERMITTED USES 
 

 1.  The uses allowed in this “PC” Planned Commercial District shall be: 
   
  a.   Associate work and storage areas required by a business,  
   firm or service to carry on business operations. 
   
  b.  Medical and dental offices. 
 
  c.  Offices and office buildings. 

 
B.  FLOOR AREA, HEIGHT, BUILDING AND PARKING STRUCTURE 

  REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. A minimum of thirty percent (30%) open space is required for this 
 development. 

 
C.    SETBACKS 

 
1. STRUCTURE SETBACKS 

No building or structure, other than: a freestanding project 
identification sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 
flag poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 
 
a. Eighty (80) feet from the right-of-way of Cepi Drive on the 
 western boundary of the “PC” District.   

 
b. Ten (10) feet from the southern boundary of the “PC” 
  District.  
 
c. Thirty-six (36) feet from the eastern boundary of the “PC” 
 District. 
 
d. Thirty (30) feet from the northern boundary of the  
 “PC” District. 
 
e. Eight (8) feet from internal lot lines in this development. 



P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 2 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 

2. PARKING SETBACKS 
 

 No parking stall, loading space, internal driveway, or roadway, 
except points of ingress or egress, will be located within the 
following setbacks: 

   
a. Twelve (12) feet from the right-of-way of Cepi Drive. 
 
b. Ten (10) feet from the southern boundary of the "PC”
 District. 
 
c.  Thirty-three (33) feet from the eastern boundary of the “PC”     
 District. 
 
d. Five (5) feet from the northern boundary of the “PC” 
 District. 

 
e. Fifteen (15) feet from the internal lot lines.  

 
D.   PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development will be as required 
in the City of Chesterfield Code Parking and loading spaces for this 
development will be as required in the City of Chesterfield Code 
except as modified below: 

 
a. This development shall be allowed a seven percent (7%) 

parking reduction from the parking standards set forth in the 
City of Chesterfield Code. 

  

2. Construction Parking 
 

 a. The streets surrounding this development and any street 
 used for construction access thereto shall be cleaned  
 throughout the day.  The developer shall keep the road clear 
 of mud and debris at all times. 

 
 b. Provide adequate off-street stabilized parking area(s) for 

 construction employees and a washdown station for 
 construction vehicles entering and leaving the site in order 
 to eliminate the condition whereby mud from construction 
 and employee vehicles is tracked onto the pavement 
 causing hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  

 
 c. No construction related parking shall be permitted within the 

 Cepi Drive right of way. 
 

  3. Parking lots shall not be used as streets. 



P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 3 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 

 
 
 

 E. LANDSCAPE AND TREE REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. The developer shall adhere to the Tree Manual of the City of 
Chesterfield Code. 

 
F. SIGN REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, shall be 

reviewed by the City of Chesterfield, and/or the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, for sight distance 
considerations prior to installation or construction. 

 
2.  Signs shall be permitted in accordance with the regulations of the 

City of Chesterfield Code. 
 
 G. LIGHT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Provide a lighting plan and cut sheet in accordance with the City of 
 Chesterfield Code.  

 
H. ARCHITECTURAL  

 
1.   The developer shall submit architectural elevations, including but 

not limited to, colored renderings and building materials.  
Architectural information is to be reviewed by the Architectural 
Review Board and the Planning Commission. 

 
2.   Building facades should be articulated by using color, arrangement 

or change in materials to emphasize the facade elements.  The 
planes of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth or 
direction.  Extremely long facades shall be designed with sufficient 
building articulation and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.   

 
 3. Trash enclosures: The location, material, and elevation of any trash 

enclosures will be as approved by the Planning Commission on the 
Site Development Plan.  All exterior trash areas will be enclosed 
with a six (6) foot high sight-proof enclosure complimented by 
adequate landscaping approved by the Planning Commission on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
4.   Mechanical equipment will be adequately screened by roofing or 

other material as approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
 



P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 4 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 

 
 
 

I. ACCESS/ACCESS MANAGEMENT 
 
1. Access to Cepi Drive shall be limited to one (1) drive approach. 
 
 

J. PUBLIC/PRIVATE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING 
 PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION 

 
1. Provide a special cash escrow for a five (5) foot wide sidewalk, 

conforming to ADA standards, along Cepi Drive.  The sidewalk 
shall be privately maintained; therefore no public easements shall 
be required. 

 
K. POWER OF REVIEW 

  
1. The Mayor or a Councilmember of the Ward in which a development 
 is proposed may request that the site plan be reviewed and 
 approved by the entire City Council.  This request must be made no l
 later than twenty-four (24) hours before posting the agenda for the 
 next City Council meeting after Planning Commission review and 
 approval of the site plan.  The City Council will then take appropriate 
 action relative to the proposal. 

  
 L. STORMWATER  

 
1. The site shall provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it 

shall be discharged at an adequate natural discharge point or 
connected to an adequate piped system.   

 
2. Detention/retention and other storm water quantity and quality 

management measures are to be provided in each watershed as 
required by the City of Chesterfield.  The storm water quantity 
management facilities, related to flood and channel protection, shall 
be operational prior to paving of any driveways or parking areas in 
non-residential development or issuance of building permits 
exceeding sixty percent (60%) of approved dwelling units in each 
plat, watershed or phase of residential developments.  The location 
and types of storm water management facilities shall be identified 
on the Site Development Plan.   

 
P.       GEOTECHNICAL REPORT. 

1. Provide a geotechnical report, prepared by a registered 
 professional engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri, 
 as directed by the City of Chesterfield.  The report shall verify the 
 suitability of grading and proposed improvements with soil and 



P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 5 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 

 geologic conditions and address the existence of any potential 
 sinkhole, ponds, dams, septic fields, etc., and recommendations for 
 treatment.  A statement of compliance, signed and sealed by the 
 geotechnical engineer preparing the report, shall be included on all 
 Site Development Plans and Improvement Plans.  

 
Q.       MISCELLANEOUS 

 
1. All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 
 parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction 
 with the construction of any roadway on site. 

 
II. TIME PERIOD FOR SUBMITTAL OF SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLANS 
 AND SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS  
 

A. The developer shall submit a concept plan within eighteen (18) months of 
City Council approval of the change of zoning.   

 
B. In lieu of submitting a Site Development Concept Plan and Site 

Development Section Plans, the petitioner may submit a Site 
Development Plan for the entire development within eighteen (18) months 
of the date of approval of the change of zoning by the City.  

 
C. Failure to comply with these submittal requirements will result in the 

expiration of the change of zoning and will require a new public hearing. 
 

D. Said Plan shall be submitted in accordance with the combined 
requirements for Site Development Section and Concept Plans.  The 
submission of Amended Site Development Plans by sections of this 
project to the Planning Commission shall be permitted if this option is 
utilized. 

 
E. Where due cause is shown by the developer, this time interval for plan 

submittal may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 
Planning Commission.  

  
 III.  COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 
      

A. Substantial construction shall commence within two (2) years of approval 
of the site development concept plan or site development plan, unless 
otherwise authorized by ordinance.   

 
B.  Where due cause is shown by the developer, the Commission may extend 

the period to commence construction for not more than one (1) additional 
year.   

 



P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 6 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 
IV. GENERAL CRITERIA 

A. Site Development Concept Plan, Site Development Section Plan, Site 
Development Plans. 

   
1. Any site development plan shall show all information required on a 

sketch plan as required in the City of Chesterfield Code.  
 

2. Include a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code to indicate proposed landscaping along arterial 
and collector roadways.  

 
3. Include a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield 

Code to indicate proposed lighting along arterial collector 
roadways. 

 
4. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, Monarch Levee District, Spirit 
of St. Louis Airport and the Missouri Department of Transportation. 

 
V. CHESTERFIELD VALLEY TRUST FUND 
 
 Roads 
 

The roadway improvement contribution is based on land and building use.  The 
roadway contributions are necessary to help defray the cost of engineering, right 
of way acquisition, and major roadway construction in accordance with the 
Chesterfield Valley Road Improvement Plan on file with the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic. The amount of the developer’s contribution 
to this fund shall be computed based on the following:   
 
Type of Development     Required Contribution 
Commercial      $2.07/ sq. ft. of building space  
Office       $1.44/sq. ft. of building space 
Industrial       $4,986/acre 
 
If types of development proposed differ from those listed, rates shall be provide 
by the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic. 
 
Credits for roadway improvements required will be awarded as directed by St. 
Louis County Highways and Traffic.  Any portion of the roadway improvement 
contribution that remains following completion of road improvements required by 
the development shall be retained in the appropriate Trust Fund. 
 
The roadway improvement contribution shall be deposited with the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made before 
the issuance of a Special Use Permit (S.U.P.) by the St. Louis County Highways 



P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 7 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 

and Traffic or a Building Permit by St. Louis County Public Works Department.  
Funds shall be payable to “Treasurer, St. Louis County”. 

 
 Water Main 

 
The primary water line contribution is based on gross acreage of the 
development land area.  The contribution shall be a sum of $654.66 per acre for 
the total area as approved on the Site Development Plan to be used solely to 
help defray the cost of construction of the primary water line serving the 
Chesterfield Valley area. 
 
The primary water line contribution shall be deposited with the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made before approval 
of the Site Development Plan by the St. Louis Department of Highways and 
Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to “Treasurer, St. Louis County”. 
 
Stormwater 
 
The storm water contribution is based on gross acreage of the development land 
area.  These funds are necessary to help defray the cost of engineering and 
construction improvements for the collection and disposal of storm water from 
the Chesterfield Valley in accordance with the Master Plan on file with and jointly 
approved by St. Louis County and the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District.  The 
amount of the storm water contribution will be computed based on $2,077.15 per 
acre for the total area as approved on the Site Development Plan.  The storm 
water contributions to the Trust Fund shall be deposited with the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made before 
the issuance of a Special Use Permit (S.U.P.) by St. Louis County Highways and 
Traffic or a Building Permit by St. Louis County Public Works Department.  
Funds shall be payable to “Treasurer, St. Louis County”. 
 
Sanitary Sewer 

 
The sanitary sewer contribution is collected as the Caulks Creek Impact Fee. 
 
The sanitary sewer contribution within Chesterfield Valley area shall be 
deposited with the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District as required by the 
District. 
 
The amount of these required contributions for the roadways, storm water and 
primary water line improvements, if not submitted by January 1, 2008 shall be 
adjusted on that date and on the first day of January in each succeeding year 
thereafter in accordance with the construction cost index as determined by the 
St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic. 
 
Trust Fund contributions shall be deposited with St. Louis County in the form of a 
cash escrow prior to the issuance of building permits. 

VI. RECORDING 



P.Z. 11-2007 J & T Holdings LLC (612 & 614 Cepi) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 8 of 8 

Planning and Zoning Committee May 24, 2007 

 
 

 
Within 60 days of approval of any development plan by the City of Chesterfield, 
the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds.  
Failure to do so will result in the expiration of approval of said plan and require 
re-approval of a plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
 
VII. ENFORCEMENT 
 

A. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 
ordinance in accordance with the Site Development Plan approved by the 
City of Chesterfield and the terms of this Attachment A. 

  
B. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be 

adequate cause for revocation of approvals/permits by reviewing 
Departments and Commissions. 
 

C. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in 
this Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City 
of Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not 
limited to, the penalty provisions as set forth in the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 

D.  Waiver of Notice of Violation per the City of Chesterfield Code.   
 

E. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be 
integrated to carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 

















































P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 1 of 13 

 
 
 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
All provisions of the City of Chesterfield City Code shall apply to this 
development except as specifically modified herein.   
 
I.  SPECIFIC CRITERIA 
 

A.  PERMITTED USES 
 

 1.  The uses allowed in this “PI” Planned Industrial District shall be: 
   
  a.  Business, professional, and technical schools. 
 
  b.  Business service establishments. 
 
  c. Cafeterias for employees and guests only. 
 
  d. Child care centers, nursery school, and day nurseries. 
 

e. Dwelling or lodging units, only for watchmen, caretakers, or 
other personnel whose residence on the premises is 
essential to the operation of a permitted use or uses. 

 
f. Financial institutions. 

 
g. Manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, processing, or 

packaging of any commodity except: 
i. Facilities producing or processing explosives or 

flammable gases or liquids; 
ii. Facilities for animal slaughtering, meat packing or 

rendering; 
iii. Sulpher plants, rubber reclamation plants, or 

cement plants; and  
iv. Steel mills, foundries, or smelters. 

 
h.  Medical and dental offices. 
 
i.  Offices or office buildings. 
 
k.  Outpatient substance abuse treatment facilities. 
 
l. Parking areas, including garages, for automobiles, but not 

including any sales of automobiles, or the storage of 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 2 of 13 

 
 
 
 

wrecked or otherwise damaged and immobilized automotive 
vehicles for a period in excess of seventy-two (72) hours. 

 
m.  Plumbing, electrical, air conditioning, and heating equipment 

sales, warehousing and repair facilities (indoor use only). 
 
n.  Printing and duplicating services (indoor use only). 
 
o. Research facilities, professional and scientific laboratories, 

including photographic processing laboratories used in 
conjunction therewith. 

 
p. Warehousing, storage, or wholesaling of manufactured 

commodities, excluding live animals, explosives, or 
flammable gases and liquids. 

 
 2.  The following Ancillary Uses shall be permitted: 
 

a. Automatic vending facilities for: 
i. Ice and solid carbon dioxide (dry ice); 
ii. Beverages; 
iii. Confections. 

   
b. Cafeterias for employees and guests only.  

 
3. The above uses shall be restricted as follows: 
 

a. Proposed Building “C” shall be primarily office according to the 
Chesterfield Valley Master Plan. 

 
B.  FLOOR AREA, HEIGHT, BUILDING AND PARKING STRUCTURE 

  REQUIREMENTS 
 

1.  HEIGHT 
 

a. The maximum height of the building, exclusive of roof 
screening, shall not exceed thirty (30) feet or two stories 
whichever is less measured from final grade.  The height of 
the existing building shall be permitted.   

 
2.  BUILDING REQUIREMENTS 

 
a. A minimum of thirty percent (30%) openspace is required 

for this development. 
 
 
 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 3 of 13 

 
 
 
 

C.    SETBACKS 
 

1. STRUCTURE SETBACKS 
No building or structure, other than: a freestanding project 
identification sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 
flag poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 
 
a. Ninety (90) feet from the right-of-way of I-64/ U.S. 40-61.  The 

existing Cambridge Engineering structure is setback sixty 
(60) feet from the new right-of-way of I-64/ U.S. 40-61 and 
shall remain as built.  Upon the removal of the 
aforementioned structure, the ninety (90) foot setback shall 
be in effect. 

 
b. Fifty-five (55) feet from the southern boundary of this 

development at Building “B”.  
 
c. One hundred sixty-five (165) feet from the southern boundary 

of this development at Building “C”. 
 

d. Thirty (30) feet from the western boundary of this 
development. 

 
e. Ninety (90) feet from the eastern boundary of this 

development. 
 

f. Sixty (60) feet from Long Road Crossing Drive. 
 

g. Ten (10) feet from internal property lines. 
 

2. PARKING SETBACKS 
 

No parking stall, loading space, internal driveway, or roadway, 
except points of ingress and egress, will be located within the 
following setbacks: 

   
a.  Thirty (30) feet from the right-of-way of I-64/U.S. 40-61.  No 

parking shall be allowed in front of the existing Cambridge 
Engineering Building.  Existing pavement is provided for Fire 
Protection District only. 

 
b.  Thirty (30) feet from the southern boundary of this 

development. 
 
 
c.  Twenty-five (25) feet from the east and west boundaries of 

this development with the exception of a shared driveway 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 4 of 13 

 
 
 
 

along the western property line of Lot 2 bearing N 10° 51’ 03” 
W north of Long Road Crossing Drive.  

 
d.  Fifteen (15) feet from Long Road Crossing Drive. 
 
e. Ten (10) feet from internal property lines with the exception 

of shared driveways. 
 

D.   PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development will be as required 
in the City of Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. Construction Parking 

 
 a. The streets surrounding this development and any street 

 used for construction access thereto shall be cleaned  
 throughout the day.  The developer shall keep the road clear 
 of mud and debris at all times. 

 
 b. Provide adequate off-street stabilized parking area(s) for 

 construction employees and a washdown station for 
 construction vehicles entering and leaving the site in order 
 to eliminate the condition whereby mud from construction 
 and employee vehicles is tracked onto the pavement 
 causing hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  

 
3. Parking lots shall not be used as streets. 
 
4. No construction related parking shall be permitted within the 

Chesterfield Airport Road right of way. 
 
5. No parking shall be permitted on any roadway in or adjacent to the 

development.  The parking restriction and requirement for signage 
shall be indicated on the Site Development Plan and improvement 
plans.  Signage shall be posted prior to approval of improvement 
plans or issuance of building permits for adjacent lots.  

 
 E. LANDSCAPE AND TREE REQUIREMENTS 
 

The developer shall adhere to the Tree Manual of the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 
 

F. SIGN REQUIREMENTS 
 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 5 of 13 

 
 
 
 

1. Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, shall be 
reviewed by the City of Chesterfield, and/or the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, for sight distance 
considerations prior to installation or construction. 

 
2.  No advertising signs, temporary signs, portable signs, off site signs, 

or attention getting devices shall be permitted in this development. 
 
3.  Signs shall be permitted in accordance with the regulations of the 

City of Chesterfield Code. 
 
 G. LIGHT REQUIREMENTS 

Provide a lighting plan and cut sheet in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code.  

 
H. ARCHITECTURAL  

 
1.   The developer shall submit architectural elevations, including but 

not limited to, colored renderings and building materials.  
Architectural information is to be reviewed by the Architectural 
Review Board and the Planning Commission. 

 
2.   Building facades should be articulated by using color, arrangement 

or change in materials to emphasize the facade elements.  The 
planes of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth or 
direction.  Extremely long facades shall be designed with sufficient 
building articulation and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.   

 
3. Building “C” shall have the appearance of an office building.  All 

other buildings shall be built of a combination of glass and concrete 
tilt-up panels and/or brick (or design similar to Spirit Trade Center 
structures) as approved by the Architectural Review Board. 

 
4. No loading docks shall face north, east or west for a distance of 

Three hundred (300) feet from the south right-of-way of I-64/ U.S. 
40-61. 

 
 5. Trash enclosures: The location, material, and elevation of any trash 

enclosures will be as approved by the Planning Commission on the 
Site Development Plan.  All exterior trash areas will be enclosed 
with a six (6) foot high sight-proof enclosure complimented by 
adequate landscaping approved by the Planning Commission on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 6 of 13 

 
 
 
 

6.   Mechanical equipment will be adequately screened by roofing or 
other material as approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
I. ACCESS/ACCESS MANAGEMENT 

 
Access to Long Road Crossing Drive shall be limited to a maximum of two 
(2) drive entrances on the north side and two (2) drive entrances on the 
south.  All drive entrances shall be a minimum of Fifty (50) feet from the 
eastern property line of the tract. 
 

J. PUBLIC/PRIVATE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING 
 PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION 

 
1. Any request to install a gate at the entrance to this development 

must be approved by the City of Chesterfield and the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  No gate installation 
will be permitted on public right of way.   

 
2. If a gate is installed on a street in this development, the streets 

within the development or that portion of the development that is 
gated shall be private and remain private forever. 

 
3. Provide a forty (40) foot right of way with a minimum of ten (10) foot 

roadway improvement, maintenance, utility and drainage 
easements on both sides for Long Road Crossing Drive (f/k/a 
Chesterfield Business Parkway North) across the tract in 
accordance with the plans entitled “Chesterfield Business Parkway 
North Road Improvements” on file in the Department of Public 
Works.  In addition, provide additional right of way and easements 
for the Spirit Drive North/Long Road Crossing Drive intersection 
and associated roundings as depicted on said plans. 

 
The roadways have been constructed to provide a twenty-six (26) 
foot travelway with seven (7) foot shoulders on both sides.  
Appurtenant storm drainage facilities shall be provided as directed 
by the Department of Public Works when adjacent lots develop.   

 
4. Provide a five (5) foot wide sidewalk, conforming to ADA standards, 

along both sides of Long Road Crossing Drive. The sidewalk shall 
be privately maintained; therefore, no public easements shall be 
required. 

 
K. POWER OF REVIEW 

  
The Mayor or a Councilmember of the Ward in which a development is 
proposed may request that the site plan be reviewed and approved by the 
entire City Council.  This request must be made no later than 24 hours 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 7 of 13 

 
 
 
 

before posting the agenda for the next City Council meeting after Planning 
Commission review and approval of the site plan.  The City Council will 
then take appropriate action relative to the proposal. 

  
 L. STORMWATER  

 
1. The site shall provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it 

shall be discharged at an adequate natural discharge point or 
connected to an adequate piped system.   

 
2. Detention/retention and other storm water quantity and quality 

management measures are to be provided in each watershed as 
required by the City of Chesterfield.  The storm water quantity 
management facilities, related to flood and channel protection, shall 
be operational prior to paving of any driveways or parking areas in 
non-residential development or issuance of building permits 
exceeding sixty (60%) of approved dwelling units in each plat, 
watershed or phase of residential developments.  The location and 
types of storm water management facilities shall be identified on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
3. Per the Chesterfield Valley Master Storm Water Plan, ten (10) foot 

wide flat bottom ditches have been constructed along the north, 
east and west property lines of this site, with drainage directed to 
the east to the pump station at Long Road.  Provide Chesterfield 
Valley Storm Water Easements along the north, east and west 
property lines, as required and directed by the Department of Public 
Works, to accommodate the Chesterfield Valley Master Storm 
Water Plan channel in those areas, and depict the channel on all 
Site Development Plans and improvement plans.  Maintenance of 
the required channel shall be the responsibility of the property 
owner. 

 
M.       GEOTECHNICAL REPORT. 

Provide a geotechnical report, prepared by a registered professional 
engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri, as directed by the 
Department of Public Works.  The report shall verify the suitability of 
grading and proposed improvements with soil and geologic conditions and 
address the existence of any potential sinkhole, ponds, dams, septic 
fields, etc., and recommendations for treatment.  A statement of 
compliance, signed and sealed by the geotechnical engineer preparing the 
report, shall be included on all Site Development Plans and Improvement 
Plans.  

 
 
 
 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 8 of 13 

 
 
 
 

N.       MISCELLANEOUS 
 

1.   All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 
parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction 
with the construction of any roadway on site. 

 
2. Prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit, any existing 

stormwater channel located on this site and between this site and 
the pump station to which it should drain shall be regraded to 
restore the channel to the line and grade of the original design. 

 
II. TIME PERIOD FOR SUBMITTAL OF SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLANS 
 AND SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS  
 

A. The developer shall submit a concept plan within eighteen (18) months of 
City Council approval of the change of zoning.   

 
B. In lieu of submitting a Site Development Concept Plan and Site 

Development Section Plans, the petitioner may submit a Site 
Development Plan for the entire development within eighteen (18) months 
of the date of approval of the change of zoning by the City.  

 
C. Failure to comply with these submittal requirements will result in the 

expiration of the change of zoning and will require a new public hearing. 
 

D. Said Plan shall be submitted in accordance with the combined 
requirements for Site Development Section and Concept Plans.  The 
submission of Amended Site Development Plans by sections of this 
project to the Planning Commission shall be permitted if this option is 
utilized. 

 
E. Where due cause is shown by the developer, this time interval for plan 

submittal may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 
Planning Commission.  

    
 III.  COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 
      

A. Substantial construction shall commence within two (2) years of approval 
of the site development concept plan or site development plan, unless 
otherwise authorized by ordinance.   

 
B.  Where due cause is shown by the developer, the Commission may extend 

the period to commence construction for not more than one additional 
year.   



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 9 of 13 

 
 
 
 

IV. GENERAL CRITERIA 

 A. SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLAN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

   
 The Site Development Concept Plan shall include, but not be limited to, 

the following: 
 

1. Outboundary plat and legal description of the property. 
 

2. Location of all roadways adjacent to the property and general 
location, size, and pavement widths of all interior roadways. 

 
3. General design of the development including unit types (i.e., single-

family detached, single-family attached, garden apartment), number 
of each unit type proposed, location of units, minimum and 
maximum size of single-family lots, approximate size of multiple-
family structures, and location and size of common areas and 
recreation facilities. 

 
4. Location and size of any commercial uses, types of uses proposed 

and general parking layout. 
 

5. Zoning district lines and floodplain boundaries. 
 

6. Density calculations. 
 

7. Provide a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City of  
Chesterfield Code.  

 
8. Provide a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield 

Code. 

 B. SITE DEVELOPMENT SECTION PLAN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS  

 
 The Site Development Section Plan shall adhere to the above criteria and 

to the following:  
 
1. Location map, north arrow, and plan scale. The scale shall be no 

greater than one (1) inch equals one hundred (100) feet. 
 

2. Parking calculations. Including calculation for all off street parking 
spaces, required  and proposed, and the number, size and location 
for  handicap designed. 

 
3. Provide open space percentage for overall development including 

separate percentage for each lot on the plan.   
 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 10 of 13 

 
 
 
 

4. Provide Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.). 
 
5. A note indicating all utilities will be installed underground. 
 
6. A note indicating signage approval is separate process. 
 
7. Depict the location of all buildings, size, including height and 

distance from adjacent property lines and proposed use. 
 
8. Specific structure and parking setbacks along all roadways and 

property lines. 
 
9. Indicate location of all existing and proposed freestanding 

monument signs 
 
10. Zoning district lines, subdivision name, lot number, dimensions, and 

area, and zoning of adjacent parcels where different than site. 
 
11. Floodplain boundaries.   
 
12. Depict existing and proposed improvements within 150 feet of the 

site as directed.  Improvements include, but are not limited to, 
roadways, driveways and walkways adjacent to and across the 
street from the site, and significant natural features, such as 
wooded areas and rock formations, that are to remain or be 
removed. 

 
13. Depict all existing and proposed easements and rights-of-way 

within 150 feet of the site and all existing or proposed off-site 
easements and rights-of-way required for proposed improvements. 

 
14. Indicate the location of the proposed storm sewers, detention 

basins, sanitary sewers and connection(s) to the existing systems. 
 
15. Depict existing and proposed contours at intervals of not more than 

one (1) foot, and extending 150 feet beyond the limits of the site as 
directed. 

 
16. Address trees and landscaping in accordance with the City of 

Chesterfield Code.  
 
17. Comply with all preliminary plat requirements of the City of 

Chesterfield Subdivision Regulations per the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 

 
18. Signed and sealed in conformance with the State of Missouri 

Department of Economic Development, Division of Professional 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 11 of 13 

 
 
 
 

Registration, Missouri Board for Architects, Professional Engineers 
and Land Surveyors requirements. 

 
19. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, Monarch Levee District, Spirit 
of St. Louis Airport and the Missouri Department of Transportation. 

 
20. Compliance with Sky Exposure Plane. 

 
V. CHESTERFIELD VALLEY TRUST FUND 
 

A. Roads 
The roadway improvement contribution is based on land and building use.  
The roadway contributions are necessary to help defray the cost of 
engineering, right-of-way acquisition, and major roadway construction in 
accordance with the Chesterfield Valley Road Improvement Plan on file 
with the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The 
amount of the developer’s contribution to this fund shall be computed on 
the basis of the following: 
 
Type of Development            Required Contribution 
 
Industrial       $3,685.05/acre of gross acreage 
 
If the types of development proposed differ from those listed, rates shall 
be provided by the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic. 
 
Credits for roadway improvements required in condition will be awarded 
as directed by the St. Louis County Highways and Traffic.  Any portion of 
the roadway improvement contribution which remains, following 
completion of road improvements required by the development shall be 
retained in the trust fund. 
 
The roadway improvement contribution shall be deposited with the St. 
Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be 
made prior to the issuance of a Special Use Permit (S.U.P.) by St. Louis 
County Highways and Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to the Treasurer, 
St. Louis County. 

 
B. Water Main 

The primary water line contribution is based on gross acreage of the 
development land area.  The contribution shall be a sum of $486.43 per 
acre for the total area as approved on the Site Development Plan to be 
used solely to help defray the cost of constructing the primary water line 
serving the Chesterfield Valley area. 
 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 12 of 13 

 
 
 
 

The primary water line contributions shall be deposited with the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made 
prior to approval of the Site Development Plan unless otherwise directed 
by the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  Funds shall 
be payable to the Treasurer, St. Louis County. 

 
C. Stormwater 

The stormwater contribution is based on the gross acreage of the 
development land area.  These funds are necessary to help defray the 
cost of engineering and construction improvements for the collection and 
disposal of stormwater from the Chesterfield Valley in accordance with the 
Master Plan on file with and jointly approved by St. Louis County and the 
Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District.  The amount of the stormwater 
contribution will be computed on the basis of $1,534.99 per acre for the 
total area as approved on the Site Development Plan. 
 
The stormwater contributions to the Trust Fund shall be deposited with the 
St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall 
be made prior to the issuance of a Special Use Permit (S.U.P.) by St. 
Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  Funds shall be 
payable to the Treasurer, St. Louis County. 

 
D. Sanitary Sewer 

The sanitary sewer contribution is colleted as the Caulks Creek impact 
fee. 
 
The sanitary sewer contributions within Chesterfield Valley area shall be 
deposited with the Metropolitan Sewer District as required by the District. 
 
The amount of this required contribution for the roadway, stormwater and 
primary waterline improvements, if not submitted by January 1, 2001 shall 
be adjusted on that date and on the first day of January in each 
succeeding year thereafter in accord with the construction cost index as 
determined by the St. Louis County Departments of Highway and Traffic. 
 
Trust fund contributions shall be deposited with St. Louis County in the 
form of a cash escrow prior to the issuance of building permits.  

 
VI. RECORDING 

 
Within 60 days of approval of any development plan by the City of Chesterfield, 
the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds.  
Failure to do so will result in the expiration of approval of said plan and require 
re-approval of a plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
VII. ENFORCEMENT 
 



P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center) 

Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 13 of 13 

 
 
 
 

A. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 
ordinance in accordance with the Site Development Concept Plan and 
Site Development Section Plans approved by the City of Chesterfield and 
the terms of this Attachment A. 

  
B. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be  

adequate cause for revocation of approvals/permits by reviewing 
Departments and Commissions. 
 

C. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in 
this Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City 
of Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not 
limited to, the penalty provisions as set forth in the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 

D.  Waiver of Notice of Violation per the City of Chesterfield Code.   
 

E. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be 
integrated to carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 



IV. B. 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

CITY OF CHESTERFIELD 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Planning Commission of the City of Chesterfield will hold Public 

Hearings on Monday, May 14, 2007, in the Council Chambers at the City Hall, 690 Chesterfield Parkway 

West, Chesterfield, Missouri 63017. 

Said hearings will be as follows: 

 

P.Z. 15-2007 Cambridge Engineering (Kramer Commerce Center): a request for an amendment to City of 

Chesterfield Ordinance 1717 to amend the parking setbacks and development requirements. 

 

Anyone interested in the proceedings will be given an opportunity to be heard. Copies of the request are 

available for review in the Department of Planning at the Chesterfield City Hall, 690 Chesterfield Parkway 

West during weekdays between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 4:30 p.m.  If you should need additional 

information about this project, please contact Mrs. Mara Perry, Senior Planner, by telephone at 636-537-4744 

or by email at mperry@chesterfield.mo.us 

 

CITY OF CHESTERFIELD 

Maurice L. Hirsch, Jr., Chair 

Chesterfield Planning Commission 

 

 



 

Description of Property 

 

A tract of land being part of U.S. Survey 1010 and part of Lot 1 of the Subdivision of Lands of Spencer Tyler, 

according to the plat thereof recorded in Deed Book 7 Page 25 of the St. Louis County Recorder's Office 

located in U.S. Survey 419, all in Township 45 North, Range 3 East of the 5th Principal Meridian, St. Louis 

County, Missouri, and being more particularly described as follows:  

 

Beginning at the intersection of the Southerly line of Missouri Interstate Highway 64 and the Northeasterly line 

of above said U.S. Survey 419, said point also being the Northwesterly corner of a tract of land as conveyed to 

Kramer Assets Group, LLC, as recorded in Book 11776 Page 2307 of above said records; thence along the 

Southerly line of said Interstate 64 and the Northerly line of said Kramer Assets Group, LLC and the Northerly 

line of a tract of land as conveyed to Kramer Assets Group, LLC, as recorded in Book 12523 Page 1389 of 

above said records the following courses and distances; thence South 83 degrees 04 minutes 20 seconds East 

611.18 feet to a point of curvature to the left for which the radius point bears North 06 degrees 55 minutes 40 

seconds East 34517.47; thence along said curve to the left with a chord which bears South 83 degrees 05 

minutes 43 seconds East 27.51 feet an arc length of 27.51 feet to the Northwesterly corner of a tract of land as 

conveyed to Terra Investments, L.L.C. by instrument recorded in Book 11999 Page 1013 of said Recorder's 

Office; thence along the Westerly and Northerly lines of said Terra Investments, L.L.C. tract the following 

courses and distances; thence South 06 degrees 55 minutes 24 seconds West 1095.67 feet; thence North 83 

degrees 06 minutes 20 seconds West 289.72 feet to the Northeasterly line of above said U.S. Survey 419, said 

point also being the Southwesterly line of said U.S. Survey 1010; thence along said Northeasterly line of U.S. 

Survey 419 North 10 degrees 51 minutes 03 seconds West 688.01 feet; thence departing said Northeasterly line 

North 83 degrees 04 minutes 20 seconds West 494.08 feet to the Southwesterly line of above said Lot 1 of the 

Subdivision of Lands of Spencer Tyler, said point also being on the Southeasterly line of a tract of land as 

conveyed to Danna Development, L.L.C. by instrument recorded in Book 12836 Page 324 of above said 

records; thence along said Southwesterly line of Lot 1 of the Subdivision of the Lands of Spencer Tyler, North 

10 degrees 53 minutes 25 seconds West 462.87 feet to the Southerly line of above said Missouri Interstate 

Highway 64; thence along said Southerly line South 83 degrees 04 minutes 20 seconds East 494.41 feet to the 

Point of Beginning and containing 727,738 square feet or 16.707 acres more or less according to calculations 

performed by Stock and Associates Consulting Engineers, Inc. on  June 28, 2006. 

 









III.I 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
May 16, 2007 
 
 
Planning and Zoning Committee 
City of Chesterfield 
690 Chesterfield Pkwy W 
Chesterfield, MO 63017 
 
 
RE:   P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision (16845 N. Outer 40 Road):  a 

request for an amendment to City of Chesterfield Ordinance 2154 to allow 
for a change to the parking and building setbacks, building height and 
number of permitted buildings for a 7.698 acre tract of land zoned “PC” 
Planned Commercial located north of North Outer Forty and east of 
Boone’s Crossing at 16845 North Outer Forty Road. (17T520073) 

 
 
Dear Planning and Zoning Committee: 
 
At the May 14, 2007 City of Chesterfield Planning Commission meeting, a 
recommendation for approval of the above-referenced matter was approved by a 
vote of 8-0.   The motion for approval included an amendment to the building 
height.  The amendment is as follows: 
 

b. The maximum height of all other buildings, exclusive of roof screening, 
shall not exceed three (3) stories. forty five (45) feet. 

 
Attached please find a copy of the Department report and Attachment A as 
approved by the Planning Commission.   
 
. 
Respectfully submitted,        
 
 
Aimee E. Nassif 
Senior Planner of Zoning Administration 
 
Cc:     Michael G. Herring, City Administrator 

Rob Heggie, City Attorney 
Michael O. Geisel, Director of Public Works / City Engineer/Acting Director 
of Planning 
 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 1 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
All provisions of the City of Chesterfield City Code shall apply to this 
development except as specifically modified herein.   
 

 
I.  SPECIFIC CRITERIA 
 

A.  PERMITTED USES 
 

 1.  The uses allowed in this “PC” District shall be: 
   

a.   Arenas and stadiums. 
 

b. Associated work and storage areas required by a business, 
firm, or service to carry on business operations. 

 
c. Auditoriums, churches, clubs, lodges, meeting rooms, libraries, 

reading rooms, theaters, or any other facility for public 
assembly. 

 
d. Child care centers, nursery schools, and day nurseries.   

 
e. Colleges and universities. 

 
f. Financial institutions. 

 
g. Hospitals. 

 
h. Hotels and motels. 

 
i. Medical and dental offices. 

 
j. Offices or office buildings. 

 
k. Recreational facilities, indoor and illuminated outdoor facilities, 

including swimming pools, golf courses, golf practice driving 
ranges, tennis courts, and gymnasiums, and indoor theaters, 
including drive-in theaters.   

 
l. Research facilities, professional and scientific laboratories, 

including photographic processing laboratories used in 
conjunction therewith.  

 
m. Restaurants, fast food. (No drive-thru) 

 
n. Restaurants, sit down. 

 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 2 
 
 

o. Schools for business, professional or technical training, but not 
including outdoor areas for driving or heavy equipment training.   

 
p. Stores, shops, markets, service facilities, and automatic 

vending facilities in which goods or services of any kind, 
including indoor sale of motor vehicles, are being offered for 
sale or hire to the general public on the premises.   

 
B.  FLOOR AREA, HEIGHT, BUILDING AND PARKING STRUCTURE 

  REQUIREMENTS 
 

1.  HEIGHT 
 

a. The maximum height of retail buildings, exclusive of roof 
screening, shall not exceed two (2) stories. 

 
b. The maximum height of all other buildings, exclusive of roof 

screening, shall not exceed forty five (45) feet. 
 

2.  BUILDING REQUIREMENTS 
 
a. A minimum of forty percent (40%) openspace is required for 

this development.    
 

C.    SETBACKS 
 

1. STRUCTURE SETBACKS 
No building or structure, other than: a freestanding project 
identification sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 
flag poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 
 
a. One hundred and twenty feet (120) from the new right-of- 

way of North Outer Forty.  
 
b.  Nineteen (19) feet from the eastern boundary of the “PC” 

District.  
 
c.  Twenty five (25) feet from the western boundary of the “PC” 

District. 
 
d. Two hundred (200) feet from the northern boundary of the 

“PC”  District. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 3 
 
 

   2. PARKING SETBACKS 
 

a. No parking stall, loading space, internal driveway, or 
roadway, except points of ingress or egress, will be located 
within the following setbacks: 

   
i. Thirty (30) feet from the right-of-way of North Outer 

Forty Road. 
 
         ii. Nineteen (19) feet from the eastern boundary of this 

development.  
 
        iii. Twenty five (25) feet from the western boundary of the 

“PC” District. 
 

iv. One hundred seventy (170) feet from the northern 
boundary of the “PC” District. 

 
v. Ten (10) feet from internal property lines, with the 

exception of shared driveways. 
 
        vi. Fifteen (15) feet from the principal internal street.   
 

 
D.   PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1. Parking and loading spaces for this development will be as required 
in the  City of Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. Construction Parking 

 
 a. The streets surrounding this development and any street 

 used for construction access thereto shall be cleaned  
 throughout the day.  The developer shall keep the road clear 
 of mud and debris at all times. 

 
 b. Provide adequate off-street stabilized parking area(s) for 

 construction employees and a washdown station for 
 construction vehicles entering and leaving the site in order 
 to eliminate the condition whereby mud from construction 
 and employee vehicles is tracked onto the pavement 
 causing hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  

 
  3. Parking lots shall not be used as streets. 

 
 
 
 
 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 4 
 
 
 E. LANDSCAPE AND TREE REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. The developer shall adhere to the Tree Manual of the City of 
Chesterfield Code. 

 
2. Since landscaping is not permitted in the underseepage berm area, 

landscape provisions for said area, including but not exclusive to 
landscaped parking islands and perimeter landscaping 
requirements will not be required to adhere to the Tree Manual.  
Landscaping plans will include additional landscaping provisions in 
the front portion of the building area which will buffer the lack of 
landscaping in the rear of the property.   The landscape features 
may include but not be limited to water features, brick planters and 
outdoor artwork.   

 
F. SIGN REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, shall be 

reviewed by the City of Chesterfield, and/or the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, for sight distance 
considerations prior to installation or construction. 

 
2.  Signs shall be permitted in accordance with the regulations of the 

City of Chesterfield Code. 
 
 G. LIGHT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Provide a lighting plan and cut sheet in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code.  

 
H. ARCHITECTURAL  

 
1.   The developer shall submit architectural elevations, including but 

not limited to, colored renderings and building materials.  
Architectural information is to be reviewed by the Architectural 
Review Board and the Planning Commission. 

 
2.   Building facades should be articulated by using color, arrangement 

or change in materials to emphasize the facade elements.  The 
planes of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth or 
direction.  Extremely long facades shall be designed with sufficient 
building articulation and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.   

 
 3. Trash enclosures: The location, material, and elevation of any trash 

enclosures will be as approved by the Planning Commission on the 
Site Development Plan.  All exterior trash areas will be enclosed 
with a six (6) foot high sight-proof enclosure complimented by 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 5 
 
 

adequate landscaping approved by the Planning Commission on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
4.   Mechanical equipment will be adequately screened by roofing or 

other material as approved by the Planning Commission. 
 

I. ACCESS/ACCESS MANAGEMENT 
 

 
1. Provide cross access easements or other appropriate legal 

instruments guaranteeing permanent access to adjacent properties 
as directed by the City of Chesterfield.   

 
2. Direct access to the North Outer Forty Road shall be as approved 

by MoDOT and the City of Chesterfield.   
 
3. The centerline of the single entrance onto the North Outer Forty 

Road shall be located no closer than two hundred and twenty (220) 
feet from the western property line, or as directed by the City of 
Chesterfield and MoDOT.   

 
4. The entrance must be no less than thirty (30) feet and no more than 

thirty five (35) feet in width.  
 

5. Ingress and egress must conform to MoDOT’s Access 
Management Guidelines and must be reviewed and approved by 
MoDOT.  Any improvements within MoDOT’s right of way will 
require permit.  The entrance geometrics and drainage design shall 
be in accordance with MoDOT standards. 

 
 

J. PUBLIC/PRIVATE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING 
 PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION 

 
1. Provide any additional right-of-way and pavement widening to the 

North Outer Forty Road as required by MoDOT. 
 
2. Provide a five (5) foot wide sidewalk, conforming to ADA standards, 

parallel to North Outer Forty Road per the Valley Guidelines of the 
Comprehensive Plan and a four (4) foot wide sidewalk conforming 
to ADA standards along both sides of all interior roadways, as 
directed by the City of Chesterfield.  The sidewalks shall be 
privately maintained; therefore, no public easements shall be 
required.   

 
3. Provide a 40 foot right of way with minimum of 10 foot roadway 

improvement, maintenance, utility and sewer easements on both 
sides for all interior roadways.  Minimum roadway sections shall 
provide a 26 foot travel way with 7 foot shoulders on both side and 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 6 
 
 

appurtenant storm drainage facilities as directed by the Department 
of Public Works.   

 
 K.       TRAFFIC STUDY   

 
1. Provide a traffic study as directed by the City of Chesterfield and/or 

the Missouri Department of Highways and Traffic.  The scope of the 
study shall include internal and external circulation and may be 
limited to site specific impacts, such as the need for additional 
lanes, entrance configuration, geometrics, sight distance, traffic 
signal modifications or other improvements required, as long as the 
density of the proposed development falls within the parameters of 
the City’s traffic model.  Should the density be other than the 
density assumed in the model, regional issues shall be addressed 
as directed by the City of Chesterfield. 

 
L. MONARCH-CHESTERFIELD LEVEE DISTRICT 

 
1. The developer shall dedicate an underseepage berm easement 

adjacent to the existing levee, as directed by the Monarch 
Chesterfield Levee District and the City of Chesterfield’s 
Department of Public Works.  

 
2. Prior to approval of any grading permit or improvement plans for 

development, an underseepage study may be required for 
review/approval as directed by the Monarch Chesterfield Levee 
District, the US Army Corps of Engineers and the City of 
Chesterfield’s Department of Public Works.  

 
3. No improvements or use that would alter, diminish, damage or 

interfere with the performance of the Monarch Chesterfield Levee 
including seepage berm is permitted.  

 
4. Any drainage structures or systems, including or not limited to 

under drains, installed for the relief of hydrostatic head or seepage 
water shall be designed, construed, operated, and maintained to 
prevent infiltration of soil/ground loss.  

 
5. Trees, vegetation and landscaping which have roots which extend 

more than six (6) inches in depth below the ground are not 
permitted in the Permanent Underseepage Berm Easement.  
Buildings and other structures are also not permitted within this 
easement.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 7 
 
 

 
 
 

M. RECREATIONAL EASEMENT 
  

1. An easement, for recreational and trail purposes shall be provided 
for this site as directed by the Monarch Chesterfield Levee District 
and the City of Chesterfield’s Department of Public Works.  The 
easement is anticipated to be located on the crest of the levee.   

 
N. POWER OF REVIEW 

  
1. The Mayor or a Councilmember of the Ward in which a development 

is proposed may request that the site plan be reviewed and 
approved by the entire City Council.  This request must be made no 
later than 24 hours before posting the agenda for the next City 
Council meeting after Planning Commission review and approval of 
the site plan.  The City Council will then take appropriate action 
relative to the proposal. 

  
 O. STORMWATER  

 
1. The site shall provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it 

shall be discharged at an adequate natural discharge point or 
connected to an adequate piped system.   

 
2. Detention/retention and other storm water quantity and quality 

management measures are to be provided in each watershed as 
required by the City of Chesterfield.  The storm water quantity 
management facilities, related to flood and channel protection, shall 
be operational prior to paving of any driveways or parking areas in 
non-residential development or issuance of building permits 
exceeding sixty (60%) of approved dwelling units in each plat, 
watershed or phase of residential developments.  The location and 
types of storm water management facilities shall be identified on 
the Site Development Plan.   

 
3. Due to the inherent nature of development, the specific size, 

location, and configuration of the stormwater infrastructure are 
conceptual in nature. The exact location, size, and type of each 
segment of stormwater infrastructure are to be reviewed and 
approved in conjunction with the development of specific sites. It is 
expected that developers will submit alternate plans, propose 
alternative geometry, size, and type for these infrastructure 
improvements, along with supporting hydraulic computations. The 
Public Works Department will review said proposals for functional 
equivalence. Functional equivalence is said to be achieved when, as 
determined by the Director of Public Works, the alternate proposal 
provides the same hydraulic function, connectivity, and system wide 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 8 
 
 

benefits without adversely affecting water surface profiles at other 
locations or adjacent properties. 

 
4. The Chesterfield Valley Master Storm Water Plan indicates that the 

drainage shall be directed to the east to a future pump station, via a 
30 foot wide flat bottom ditch with 4:1 side slopes, and a double 8’ x 
4’ driveway culvert.  Please be advised that the petitioner shall 
coordinate improvements with the adjacent parcel owners. In 
addition, in the event that the ultimate permanent improvements 
cannot be constructed at the time of development, the site shall be 
designed in such a manner as to allow the ultimate construction of 
the master plan at a future date, and interim drainage facilities shall 
be provided. The interim facilities may include a temporary pump 
station as necessary to provide the required positive drainage. 
Interim facilities shall be removed promptly at such time as the 
permanent stormwater improvements can be constructed as 
required.  The petitioner will be required to provide a special cash 
escrow to the City for the cost of constructing the master plan 
drainage ditch along their property in the event that the ditch is not 
constructed at the time of development.  No building permits for the 
development will be issued until the City has received the special 
cash escrow.  The special cash escrow shall include all work 
associated with constructing the master plan drainage facility, or 
reconfiguring the interim improvement.  This shall include, but is not 
limited to, grading, siltation control, revegetation, and removal of 
driveway entrances, removal of driveway culverts, the construction 
of culverts and the reconstruction of driveway entrances. 

 
5. The maintenance of the required stormwater/ditch system shall be 

the responsibility of the property owner(s). 
 

6. Drainage storage facilities shall be placed outside of the standards 
governmental agency setbacks, or fifteen (15) feet from the new or 
existing right-of-way line, whichever is greater.   

 
7. Stormwater drainage improvements shall be operational prior to the 

paving of any driveways or parking lots.  Roadway and related 
improvements shall be constructed prior to 60% occupancy of the 
retail portion of the site. 

 
8. If any development in, or alteration of, the floodplain is proposed, the 

developer shall submit a Floodplain Development Permit/Application 
to the City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works for approval.  
Be advised that in conjunction with any site alteration the developer 
will be required to demonstrate that there will be no adverse effect 
on other properties located within the Chesterfield Valley.  The 
Floodplain Development Permit/Application must be approved by the 
City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works prior to the approval 
of the Improvement Plans or Grading Plans.  If any change in the 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 9 
 
 

location of the Special Flood Hazard Area is proposed, the 
Developer shall be required to obtain a Letter of Map Revision 
(LOMR) from the Federal Emergency Management Agency.  The 
LOMR must be issued by FEMA prior to the final release of any 
escrow held by the City of Chesterfield for improvements in the 
development. 

 
9. If any building is proposed to be located in an existing, or proposed, 

Special Flood Hazard Area the building shall be clearly labeled as 
being located in the Floodplain on the Approved Site Development 
Plan and Improvement Plan.  The lowest Reference Level (floor), as 
defined by FEMA, shall be constructed a minimum of one (1) foot 
above the base flood elevation unless a LOMR has been issued by 
FEMA prior to construction.  The minimum elevation for the 
Reference Level for each building shall also be noted on the 
approved Site Development Plan and Improvement Plan. 

 
 

P.  SANITARY SEWER 
 

1. Hydraulic calculations of downstream sewers will be required by the 
Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District and the City of Chesterfield.  
Downstream sanitary reaches may need to be replaced or 
upgraded, as directed by the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District 
and the City of Chesterfield. 

 
2. Hydraulic calculations and/or adequate detention of all storm water 

that will encroach on MoDOT right of way shall be reviewed and 
approved by MoDOT.   

 
Q.       GEOTECHNICAL REPORT. 

Provide a geotechnical report, prepared by a registered professional 
engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri, as directed by the 
Department of Public Works.  The report shall verify the suitability of 
grading and proposed improvements with soil and geologic conditions and 
address the existence of any potential sinkhole, ponds, dams, septic 
fields, etc., and recommendations for treatment.  A statement of 
compliance, signed and sealed by the geotechnical engineer preparing the 
report, shall be included on all Site Development Plans and Improvement 
Plans.  

 
 

R.       MISCELLANEOUS 
 

1.   All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 
parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction 
with the construction of any roadway on site. 

 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 10 
 
 

2. If any work is proposed in, near or above the natural watercourse 
through this site, a hydrologic/hydraulic study evaluation the 
impacts of the proposed work shall be provided as directed by the 
City of Chesterfield’s Department of Public Works.  Said study shall 
evaluate impacts on the entire length of stream, and any 
maintenance requirements. Appropriate permits and approvals from 
other agencies shall also be provided.    

 
 

II. TIME PERIOD FOR SUBMITTAL OF SITE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLANS 
 AND SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS  
 

A. The developer shall submit a concept plan within 18 months of City 
Council approval of the change of zoning.   

 
B. In lieu of submitting a Site Development Concept Plan and Site 

Development Section Plans, the petitioner may submit a Site 
Development Plan for the entire development within 18 months of the date 
of approval of the change of zoning by the City.  

 
C. Failure to comply with these submittal requirements will result in the 

expiration of the change of zoning and will require a new public hearing. 
 

D. Said Plan shall be submitted in accordance with the combined 
requirements for Site Development Section and Concept Plans.  The 
submission of Amended Site Development Plans by sections of this 
project to the Planning Commission shall be permitted if this option is 
utilized. 

 
E. Where due cause is shown by the developer, this time interval for plan 

submittal may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 
Planning Commission.  

  
   
 III.  COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION 
      

A. Substantial construction shall commence within two (2) years of approval 
of the site development concept plan or site development plan, unless 
otherwise authorized by ordinance.   

 
B.  Where due cause is shown by the developer, the Commission may extend 

the period to commence construction for not more than one additional 
year.   

 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 11 
 
 
IV. GENERAL CRITERIA 

A. Site Development Concept Plan, Site Development Section Plan, Site 
Development Plans. 

   
1. Any site development plan shall show all information required on a 

sketch plan as required in the City of Chesterfield Code.  
 

2. Include a conceptual landscape plan in accordance with the City of 
Chesterfield Code to indicate proposed landscaping along arterial 
and collector roadways.  

 
3. Include a lighting plan in accordance with the City of Chesterfield 

Code to indicate proposed lighting along arterial collector 
roadways. 

 
4. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, the St. Louis County 
Department of Highways and Traffic, Monarch Levee District, Spirit 
of St. Louis Airport and the Missouri Department of Transportation. 

 
V. CHESTERFIELD VALLEY TRUST FUND 

 
The Developer shall contribute to the Chesterfield Valley Trust Fund.   

A. Roads 

The roadway improvement contribution is based on land and building use.  
The roadway contributions are necessary to help defray the cost of 
engineering, right-of-way acquisition, and major roadway construction in 
accordance with the Chesterfield Valley Road Improvement Plan on file 
with the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The 
amount of the developer’s contribution to this fund shall be computed on 
the following basis: 

 
Type of Development                                                    Required 
Contribution 
Commercial                                                            $1.80/SF 

 
If the types of development proposed differ from those listed, rates shall 
be provided by the St. Louis County Department of Highway and Traffic. 
 
Credits for roadway improvements required in condition will be awarded 
as directed by the St. Louis County Highways and Traffic.  Any portion of 
the roadway improvement contribution which remains, following 
completion of road improvements required by the development shall be 
retained in the trust fund. 
 
The roadway improvement contribution shall be deposited with the St. 
Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 12 
 
 

made prior to the issuance of a Special Use Permit (S.U.P.) by St. Louis 
County Highways and Traffic.  Funds shall be payable to the Treasurer, 
St. Louis County.   
 
 
  

B. Water Main 

The primary water line contribution is based on gross acreage of the 
development land area.  The contribution shall be a sum of $568.82 per 
acre for the total area as approved on the Site Development Plan to be 
used solely to help defray the cost of constructing the primary water line 
serving the Chesterfield Valley area. 

The primary water line contributions shall be deposited with the St. Louis 
County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall be made 
prior to approval of the Site Development Plan unless otherwise directed 
by the St. Louis County Department of Highway and Traffic.  Funds shall 
be payable to the Treasurer, St. Louis County.  

C. Stormwater 

The stormwater contribution is based on gross acreage of the 
development land area.  These funds are necessary to help defray the 
cost of engineering and construction improvements for the collection and 
disposal of stormwater from the Chesterfield Valley in accordance with the 
Master Plan on file with and jointly approved by St. Louis County and the 
Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District.  The amount of the stormwater 
contribution will be computed on the basis of $1,804.75 per acre for the 
total area as approved on the Site Development Plan. 

 
The stormwater contributions to the Trust Fund shall be deposited with the 
St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  The deposit shall 
be made prior to the issuance of a Special Use Permit (S.U.P.) by St. 
Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.  Funds shall be 
payable to the Treasurer, St. Louis County. 

D. Sanitary Sewer 

The sanitary sewer contribution is collected as the Caulks Creek impact 
fee and is subject to a surcharge of $2,750/acre.  The sanitary sewer 
contributions within Chesterfield Valley area shall be deposited with the 
Metropolitan Sewer District as required by the District. 

 
The amount of this required contribution for the roadway, stormwater and primary 
waterline improvements, if not submitted by January 1, 2005 shall be adjusted on 
that date and on the first day of January in each succeeding year thereafter in 
accord with the construction cost index as determined by the St. Louis County 
Departments of Highway and Traffic. 
 
Except as otherwise noted, trust fund contributions shall be deposited with St. 



Planning Commission April 23, 2007  P.Z. 16-2007 Valley Gates Subdivision 
Planning Commission May 14, 2007  Page 13 
 
 

Louis County in the form of a cash escrow prior to the issuance of building 
permits 

 
 

VII. RECORDING 
 

Within 60 days of approval of any development plan by the City of Chesterfield, 
the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds.  
Failure to do so will result in the expiration of approval of said plan and require 
re-approval of a plan by the Planning Commission. 

 
VIII. ENFORCEMENT 
 

A. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 
ordinance in accordance with the Plan approved by the City of 
Chesterfield and the terms of this Attachment A. 

  
B. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be 

adequate cause for revocation of approvals/permits by reviewing 
Departments and Commissions. 
 

C. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in 
this Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City 
of Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not 
limited to, the penalty provisions as set forth in the City of Chesterfield 
Code. 
 

D.  Waiver of Notice of Violation per the City of Chesterfield Code.   
 

E. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be 
integrated to carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 














